

Vaginal Fistula Repair; Aspects of the Real Problem and the Total Approach Workshop 28 Tuesday 24 August 2010, 09:00 – 12:00

Time	Time	Торіс	Speaker
09.00	09.05	Introduction	Sherif Mourad
09.05	09.15	Vaginal Fistula Overview	Sherif Mourad
09.15	09.30	Anatomical Aspects & Etiology	Suzy Elneil
09.30	09.45	Classification of Vaginal Fistulae	Edward Stanford
09.45	10.00	Surgery for Low Vaginal Fistulae	Dirk De Ridder
10.00	10.15	Surgery for High Vaginal Fistula	Suzy Elneil
10.15	10.30	Discussion	
10.30	11.00	Coffee Break	
11.00	11.15	Difficult & Rare Cases	Ahmed Saafan
11.15	11.30	How to Treat Complications of Fistula Repair	Sherif Mourad
11.30	11.45	Case Presentation	Ahmed Saafan
11.45	12.00	Discussion	

Aims of course/workshop

The aim of this workshop is to introduce the problem of vaginal fistula and to show the epidemiology and prevalence worldwide.. The attendees should understand the different forms of vaginal fistulae and how big and complicated it could be. The surgical approaches together with the surgical skills and tips will be presented in a way that elaborates the technical difficulties and the possible post operative events.

Educational Objectives

This workshop is very important in showing the audience the real factors after the increased numbers of the developing vaginal fistulae, especially in countries. The anatomical consideration and fistula classification will help in better understanding the workup of the cases. It is also a must to educate them that the best results will be only obtained after the first repair and not with the recurrent cases, so it is crucial to learn how to do it right from the first time. The operative tips are many and help much in improving the results and this includes low and high fistula approach and the interpositioning of different different tissues in approaches. The post operative complications could be a real problem and that is why we shall discuss it in details and show how to repair it successfully.

Vesicovaginal Fistula in the Disadvantaged





Sherif Mourad, MD

Professor of Urology, Ain Shams University President of Pan Arab Continence Society Chairman of ICS Fistula Committee

Introduction

-Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) is a subtype of female urogenital fistula (UGF).

-VVF is an abnormal fistulous tract extending between the bladder and the vagina.

It allows continuous involuntary discharge of urine into the vaginal vault.





Types of Urogenital Fistula

Vesicovaginal fistula (VVF) Recto-vaginal fistula (RVF) Urethrovaginal fistula (UVF) Ureterovaginal fistula Vesicouterine fistula



Etiology in Developing countries

•Marriage and conception at a young age, often before full pelvic growth has been achieved.

•Chronic malnutrition limits pelvic dimensions, increasing the risk of cephalopelvic disproportion and malpresentation.

•Few attendances by qualified health care professionals or having access to medical facilities during childbirth. •Female circumcision and the practice of harmful traditional medical practices such as Gishiri incisions (anterior vaginal wall incisions).

•The insertion of caustic substances into the vagina with the intent to treat a gynecologic condition or to help the vagina to return to its nulliparous state.

•Prolonged impaction of the fetal presenting part in the pelvis causing widespread tissue edema, hypoxia, necrosis, and sloughing resulting from prolonged pressure on the soft tissues of the vagina, bladder base, and urethra.

 Complex neuropathic bladder dysfunction and urethral sphincteric incompetency often result, even if the fistula can be repaired successfully.

Developed countries

•VVFs is mainly due to inadvertent bladder injury during pelvic surgery (90%).

•Bladder wall injury from electro-cautery or mechanical crushing, and the dissection of the bladder into an incorrect plane, causing avascular necrosis.

•The risk of formation of a hematoma or avascular necrosis after a suture is placed through the bladder wall can lead to infection, abscess, and subsequent suture erosion through the bladder wall. •Patients may complain of urinary incontinence or an increase in vaginal discharge .

•The drainage may be continuous; however ,with a very small UGF, it may be intermittent.

 Increased postoperative abdominal, pelvic, or flank pain; prolonged ileus; and fever should alert the physician to possible urinoma or urine ascites and mandates expeditious evaluation.

•Recurrent cystitis or pyelonephritis, abnormal urinary stream, and hematuria also should initiate a workup for UGF.

Pathophysiology

•When labor becomes difficult, on account of disproportion between the pelvis and presenting part, or when the presentation is abnormal, the uterine contractions increase in strength and endeavor to force the presenting part through the brim.

•The membranes protrude unduly in the vagina, and premature rupture occurs. In consequence of early rupture and disproportion the full force of the uterine contractions is directly exerted upon the fetus and the presenting part is forced against the brim of the pelvis or gets tightly impacted therein.

•The vesico-vaginal septum, and the cervix; if the latter is not dilated, will be tightly compressed against the back of the symphysis pubis. •The uterus in such cases usually passes into a state of tonic contractions which prevents any remission in the pressure exerted on the soft parts.

•As a result of the continued pressure the tissues undergo necrosis and slough away.

•The slough that develops from this pressure necrosis most commonly results in a vesicovaginal fistula

-The time of clinical presentation depends on the etiology of the VVF: A VVF secondary to a bladder laceration typically

presents immediately.

Approximately 90% of genitourinary fistulas associated with pelvic surgery are symptomatic within 7-30 days postoperatively.

An anterior vaginal wall laceration associated with obstetric fistulas typically (75%) presents in the first 24 hours of delivery.

In contrast, radiation-induced UGFs are associated with slowly progressive devascularization necrosis and may present 30 days up to many years later.

Incidence (in millions) of Major Maternal Health Complications By Region (WHO, 2004)							
Complication	World	Africa	Americas	Eastern Med.	Europe	SE Asia	Western Pacific
Maternal haemorrhage	12.0	3.0	1.2	1.6	0.7	4.0	1.4
Sepsis	5.2	1.2	0.6	0.7	0.3	1.7	0.6
Hyperstensive Disorders	8.4	2.1	0.8	1.2	0.5	2.8	1.1
Obstructed labour	4.0	1.1	0.1	0.5	0.0	1.9	0.4
Unsafe Abortion	20.4	4.8	4.0	2.9	0.5	7.4	0.8
Source: WHO Global Burden of Disease Update 2004							









Fistula Repairs

- Treatment complexity and success depend on multiple factors including:
 - Fistula type
 - Size
 - Degree of scarring
 - Involvement urethra, ureter and bladder
 - Provider capacity
 - Postoperative care and compliance







Women's potential expectations for reintegration



Reintegration Services

For the woman

- Counseling
- Peer support
- Reproductive health educ.
- Life skills education
- Literacy training
- Skills training, incl. as health workers
- Micro-credit or grants
- Accompaniment
- Counseling with family/ husband

In the community

- Awareness campaigns to local leaders
- Community education sessions, media,
- Mobilization to support the women in seeking both prevention and treatment services

National Stakeholders

- мон
- Ministry of Women's Affairs
- Policymakers
- Professional Organizations (Ob/Gyn Society, midwifery association)
- Doctors, surgeons, midwives, social workers with experience in OF.
- Economist/Statistician
- International agencies and donors
- CSO (NGOs, FBOs, CBOs, etc)
- Women's rights groups and advocates, fistula survivors.

Challenges in surgery in Africa as seen by surgeons:

- 1- Severe shortage of surgeons.
- 2- Poor conditions of service / Poor salaries; unclear career structure.
- Concentration of surgeons in towns and cities 80 100% in urban areas where only5 -15% of populations lives.
- 4- Limited opportunities to further education and training.
- Lack of opportunities to research , and learn new techniques.
 Lack of opportunities for surgeons to improve and keep up with the times.
- 7- Retention and motivation. dedication and devotion.
- 8 Severe shortage of anesthesiologist shortage of nurses / loss of well-trained operating theater veteran nurses.
- 9-No outside contact.
- 10- Overwork.
- 11- HIV/AIDS: unsafe surgery in era of HIV pandemic.

12. Generalized poverty/ economic constraints.

13- Lack of appropriate/specialized equipments / instruments.

4- Poor maintenance of available equipment.

10 Poor or lack of specialized investigations e.g. CT SCAN, MRI ETC.

- 16- Shortage of consumables .
- 17- Lack of communication facilities/knowledge .
- 18- Shortage of blood supply.
- 19 Absence of high care ward.
- 20- Fluctuating power supply.
- 21- Lack of funds for research.

Recommendations to prevent and solve V.V.F problem:

- The existing cases of VVF in these communities should be repaired, and adequate measures taken to ensure their rehabilitation and reintegration back into the society.
- Future cases of VVF, should be prevented and controlled through preventing the occurrence of marriage before 18 yrs.
- Awareness creation and public enlighten on the dangers of early marriage, the importance of ante natal services, as well as, hospital delivery.
- Acceptability and accessibility to modern health facilities should be enhanced.

•Groups, such as Mother-in-Laws, Grand Mothers, as well as, men should be given special focus. This still assist in creating a much more supportive environment, for the women in the household.

•There is need for the creation of more VVF Repair Centers, as well as , the training of Doctors and Nurses to these facilities. This will control the problem of distance and accessibility, as well as, knowledge of existing services.

•The Cost of VVF Repairs should be subsidized through the establishment of a National VVF Fund



ANATOMICAL ASPECTS AND AETIOLOGY Sohier Elneil

Anatomy

To understand the complexity of urogenital tract fistulas, one needs to first comprehend the intricate anatomy of the pelvic floor. The pelvic floor is made up of the pelvic diaphragm, the urogenital diaphragm (present over the anterior pelvic outlet below the pelvic diaphragm) and the perineal body. The pelvic diaphragm is made up of the levator ani (made up of the pubococcygeus and iliococcygeus muscles) and coccygeus muscles that are attached to the inner surface of the pelvis. With their corresponding muscles from the opposite side, the diaphragm is thus constituted. The inner border forms the margin of the levator (urogenital) hiatus, through which passes the urethra, vagina, and ano-rectum. All these muscles are innervated primarily from the third and fourth sacral nerve roots via the pudendal nerve. Attached to the perineal body, a pyramidal fibromuscular structure between the anus and vagina, are the rectum, part of the vagina, perineal muscles, and the anal sphincter. It is during childbirth that the perineal body distends and then recoils. This elasticity is critical to maintaining intact organs and an intact pelvic floor. The close proximity of all these structures to each other, and the complex interaction between them, makes them particularly prone to damage during obstructed labour, a significant aetiological factor of urogenital tract fistulas. In essence, failure of efficient elasticity means these structures are more liable to damage.

Urogenital Fistula Aetiology

Obstetric fistulas usually arise as a consequence of prolonged obstructed labour that occurs as a result of cephalo/foeto-pelvic disproportion. The presenting part of the foetus becomes lodged in the pelvis, thus compressing all the genital tract tissues and the pelvic floor between two bony plates of the sacrum and the pubic bones. This in turn occludes the blood supply to the affected tissues, which then slough off to create the abnormal communication between the vagina and the bladder and/or rectum, leading to a fistula (Figure 1). Cephalo/foeto-pelvic disproportion is due either to an underdeveloped pelvis (e.g.



teenagers), reduced pelvic proportions (e.g. due to disease or injury), abnormal foetal presentation or foetal macrosomia. In all cases of obstructed labour, timely access to emergency caesarean delivery is known to help prevent the formation of a fistula, but unfortunately it is not readily available in all circumstances. Indeed, the lack of access to caesarean delivery is known to be directly linked to the poverty level, with the poor having substantially less access to care. Unsurprisingly, women living in rural areas are thus more prone to fistulas than those who live in urban areas.

latrogenic injury at the time of delivery, as a consequence of a laparotomy, caesarean section, or the use of forceps, is also known to be associated with urogenital tract fistulas. There is little doubt that fistulas that develop in these circumstances are dependent on the operators experience and training and the nature of the medical facility. Furthermore, it is well documented in the literature that there is a lack of medically trained staff and nurses in the developing world, where urogenital tract fistulas are predominantly present. This compounds the problem as many facilities depend on para-medical staff to provide a complex and difficult service.

Other causes of fistulas include traumatic accidents, sexual abuse and rape. This is a particular problem in the war torn regions of the developing world, such as the Darfur region of Sudan, Somalia, Sierra Leon and the Democratic Republic of Congo. But, perhaps the most controversial aetiology is that of female genital mutilation (FGM). Often, the literature erroneously makes the direct association between FGM and urogenital fistula, but there is very little evidence that this is the case. It is conceivable that type III and IV FGM are linked to fistula formation, but this area has never been fully studied.

In essence, there are numerous causes for urogenital fistula formation but the main aetiology remains obstructed labour, in the developing world, and iatrogenic surgical trauma in developed countries.





Figure 1: The foetal head is forced into the pelvis, compressing the bladder, urethra, and other soft tissues between the foetal head and the pelvic bones. This leads to tissue ischemia and then tissue necrosis, with the eventual formation of a fistula. The red areas show the possible sites of a vesico-vaginal/cervical/uterine fistula (adapted from Elkins 1994).

Obstetrical Fistula Classification

Edward Stanford MD MS FACOG FACS Chair, Fistula Subcommittee, IUGA Professor, Obstetrics and Gynecology Chief, Urogynecology/Female Pelvic Medicine University of Tennessee, Memphis

Classification of Fistulae

- Critical to standardize repairs and compare outcomes between centers
- Over 24 systems to classify obstetrical fistulae have been published
- Currently, 2 systems are used most commonly
 - Goh 2004
 - Waaldijk 1995

Difficulty in Classifications

Bias from previous experience

- 'simple', 'massive', 'high', 'low'
- 'difficult'

Clinical findings

- Anatomical changes eg shortened vagina
- Larger fistula over 2 sites eg 'urethro-' & 'bladder-neck'
- Terminology
 - 'normal sphincter', 'closing mechanism'

Description of Fistulae

Site

- vesico-vaginal
- recto-vaginal
- mid-vaginal, high

Size

- Surrounding tissues
- Scarring, tissue deficit

Sims (1852)

Urinary fistulae

- Urethro-vaginal
- Bladder neck
- Body and floor of bladder
- Utero-vesical



Mahfouz (1929)

- Urinary fistulae
 - Urethro-vaginal
 - Vesico-urethro-vaginal
 - Vesico-vaginal
 - Vesico-cervical
 - Vesico-cervico-vaginal
 - Uretero-vaginal
- Rectovaginal
- At or near the perineum
- Middle third of vagina
- At vault

Chassar Moir (1956)

Urinary fistulae

- High
- Mid
- Urethro-vaginal
- Circumferential



Bird (1967)

Class I: Urethro-vaginal, vesico-urethro-vaginal, bladder neck vesico-vaginal

- Type A: Uncomplicated by fixation to pubic bone
- Type B: Complicated by fixation to pubic bone
- Type C: Circumferential
- Class II: Mid-vaginal fistulae
- Class III: Juxta-cervical, vesico-cervico-vaginal, vesicouterine
- Results
 - 62 cases 79% closed & dry; 15% closed and incontinent
 - Type IA (29): 100% closed and dry
 - TypeIB (10): 60% closed and dry; 20% closed and incontinent
 - Type IC (9): 0% closed and dry; 78% closed and incontinent
 - Type II (3): 100% closed and dry
 - Type III (11): 100% closed and dry

McConnachie (1958)

Grade

- Depends on scarring and state of sphincters
- Grade 1: healthy tissue, normal sphincter
- Grade 2: mild scarring, normal sphincter
- Grade 3: severe scarring & stenosis, sphincter involved
- Grade 4: any repeat surgery
- Grade 5: inoperable per vaginum

Туре

- (A) < 1cm; (B) 1-2 cm; (C) > 2cm
- (D) any Type with recto-vaginal fistula

Results 298 women

- 237 (79.5%) closed; 65% closed and dry
- Higher 'failure' with Grade 3 Type D

Lawson (1968)

Urinary fistulae

- Urethral
- Juxta-urethral
- Juxta-cervical
- Massive combination fistula



<section-header><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item><list-item>

Hamlin & Nicholson (1969)

Urinary and rectal fistulae

- Simple vesico-vaginal
- Simple recto-vaginal
- Simple urethro-vaginal
- Difficult high recto-vaginal
- Vesico-uterine
- Difficult urinary fistula
 - Total urethral destruction, extensive sloughing, extensive scarring

Waaldijk (1995)

Urinary fistulae

- Type I
 - Not involving the closing mechanism
- Type II involving closing mechanism
 - 'A' without (sub)total urethral involvement
 - 'B' with (sub) total urethral involvement
 - 'a' without circumferential defect
 - 'b' with circumferential defect

Results

- Classified 2522 women in operating theatre
- Results given for 500 consecutive cases
 Total Closed = 88%; closed and dry = 89%
- Type I: closure 90.4%; incontinent 1.4%
- Type IIA: closure 88.5%; incontinent 14.5%
- Type IIB: closure 76.8%; incontinent 20.9%

Goh (2004)

- Type 4 <1.5 cm
- Type 3 1.5 <2.5 cm
- Type 2 2.5 3.5 cm
- Type 1 > 3.5 cm
- Size
- a < 1.5 cm
- b 1.5 3 cm
- c > 3 cm
- i scarring none/mild
- ii scarring mod/severe
- iii circumferential

Classification Video

Stanford, Capes, Yunga 2009

Vesicovaginal fistula. Cases presentation.

Ву

Ahmed Saafan M.D. Urology Ain Shams University Cairo- Egypt



Stone removal from VVF



The mid-level fistula: involving the vesicourethral junction





ie urethral fistula.





Complicated fistulae



Vaginal fibrc



Complicated fistula

Full thickness cutaneous graft

After several unsuccessful attempts at repair



Ureteric orifices identifications.



Dissection



Separation of bladder from the vagina





Neurourology and Urodynamics 28:438-441 (2009)



Ahmed Safan, Hassan Shaker,* Abdalla Abdelaal, M. Sherif Mourad, and Mohammed Albaz Urology Department, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

Aims: To examine the efficacy of using fibrin glue (FG) as an interpositioning layer in the repair of complicated vesioovaginal fistulae (VVFe) as compared to the classical repair using martius flaps (Ml'). Methods: The study was conducted in 3 African institutions. Forty female patients with complicated VVFs were randomized into 2 groups. Group A were repaired anatomically using PG as interpositioning layer. Group B were repaired anatomically using MF as an interpositioning layer. FG used in this study was prepared from patients own blod. Complicating factors were recurrence, local moderate lo severe fibrosis, fistula location involving the bladder neck, and or size of the fistola being more than 1.5 cm in its largest diameter. Patients were evaluated after 2 weeks, one month and 3 months postoperatively. Results: Thirty eight patients were evaluable as 2 patients, one from each group, lost to follow-up. Patient demographics were not different between the vs study groups. The frequency of occurrence of complicating factors was not different between the 2 groups. Thirteen of group A and eleven from group B were rendered dry and that was maintained for as long as they were follow-up. The difference in the outcome was not statistically significant. Conclusion: The use of FG as an interpositioning layer during the vaginal anatomical repair of complicated VVF appears to be of greut value as an alternative to the use of MF interpositioning. Decreasing the operative time and adding simplicity to the already complicated procedure are additional values of using this procedure. Neurourol. Urodynam. 28:438-441, 2009. © 2009 Wiley-Liss, Inc.

Key words: fibrin glue; multicenter; prospective; randomized; vesicovaginal fistula

Committee 18

Fistulas in the Developing World

Chairman

D. DE RIDDER (Belgium)

Members

G. H. BADLANI (USA), A. BROWNING (Ethiopia), P. SINGH (India), I. SOMBIE (Burkina Faso), L. L. WALL (USA)

CONTENTS

BACKGROUND

LITERATURE SEARCHING STRATEGY

I. AETIOLOGY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF VAGINAL FISTULAS IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD

- 1. GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF OBSTETRIC FISTULAS
- 2. DEVELOPMENT OF AN OBSTETRIC FISTULA
- 3. EPIDEMIOLOGY OF FISTULAS
- 4. FACTORS PREDISPOSING TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF FISTULAS
- 5. PHYSICAL, SOCIAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES

II. DIAGNOSIS

1. SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS

- 2. CLINICAL EVALUATION
- 3. EVALUATION WITH ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY

III. FISTULA PREVENTION

- **1. PATIENT FACTORS**
- 2. QUALITY OF CARE FACTORS

IV. CLASSIFICATION SYSTEMS

V. CONSERVATIVE MANAGEMENT

VI. SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

- 1. THE SIMPLE FISTULA
- 2. THE COMPLEX FISTULA
- 3. URINARY DIVERSION IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD
- 4. COMPLICATIONS

VII. ORGANISATION OF FISTULA CARE IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD

- 1. LOCAL HOSPITAL OR A SPECIALIST FISTULA CENTRE?
- 2. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

VIII. SUMMARY AND GOALS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

IX. RECOMMENDATIONS

REFERENCES

Fistulas in the Developing World

D. DE RIDDER,

G. H. BADLANI, A. BROWNING, P. SINGH, I. SOMBIE, L. L. WALL

BACKGROUND

Obstetric fistulas destroy the lives of many young women in the developing world. While obstetric vesicovaginal fistulas have vanished from the industrialized world, despite the efforts of many charitable organizations, they continue to occur in epidemic numbers in developing countries. The national and local governments of these countries do not have either the resources or the political will to address this problem and help these outcast women. The number of vesicovaginal fistulas in a region reflects the quality and the level of perinatal care delivered by the local health systems. In regions where health care (particularly maternal health care) is poor or absent, the number of obstetric fistulas is likely to be high. Although the treatment of women with obstetric fistulas is a worthy endeavour, the ultimate goal should be to eliminate fistulas entirely by providing adequate maternal health services and perinatal care. As some Africans say: 'Treating obstetric fistulas is like taking a serpent by the tail-you can only control the snake by taking it by the head." The ultimate goal must be fistula prevention.

Only rough estimates can be given on the incidence and prevalence of fistulas and reliable data on cure rates and surgical complications are available only from a few authors. There is no internationallyaccepted classification system for fistulas and the development of such a system has been hampered by the absence of prospective clinical research that could establish a relationship between fistula classification and surgical outcome.

LITERATURE SEARCHING STRATEGY

From the standpoint of evidence-based medicine, the literature on fistulas is disappointing. A total of 515 articles were identified using search engines such as Pubmed and Sumsearch, of which 149 were published during the last 5 years. Out of this literature, only 8 trials could be identified involving fistulas. Most of the published articles were simple observational studies. There are no evidence-based guidelines or well-designed randomized controlled trials. The major large-scale literature review is the last report of this committee [1].

Data are scarce on health economic issues as well. While there has been a gradual improvement in the number and quality of papers published on obstetric fistulas in the developing world over the last few years, none of these papers rises higher than "level 3" evidence. There is still a generalized lack of reliable data on obstetric fistulas. If the fistula problem is to be tackled successfully, this must change. The academic communities of both the industrialized and the developing worlds must work together to change this situation, thereby improving both maternal health care and the quality of services provided to women with obstetric fistulas.

I. AETIOLOGY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF VAGINAL FISTULAS IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD

A fistula is an abnormal communication between the vagina and the bladder (or rectum) of a woman that results in a constant leakage of urine and/or faeces. Most commonly fistulas develop as a result of obstetric trauma, hence the term "obstetric fistulas." Obstetric fistulas have emerged as an international public health problem which is attracting increasing international attention [2, 3]. The aetiology and epidemiology of obstetric fistulas is reviewed in this section, along with the physical, psychological and social consequences suffered by those affected. This summary is based on recent literature reviews on the subject.

1. GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF OBSTETRIC FISTULAS

Today, obstetric fistulas have vanished from the developed world and occur almost exclusively in the non-industrialized countries of Africa and Asia, where access to quality medical care is lacking for many (perhaps most) women. The disappearance of this condition from the developed countries is largely the result of universal access to emergency obstetric care. As will be seen later in this chapter, it is not possible at present to give a reliable estimate of the total number of obstetric fistulas in the developing world. Perhaps the most useful comparative health statistic in these countries is the maternal mortality ratio, which appears to be a reasonably accurate surrogate marker for obstetric fistulas. Obstetric fistulas are invariably found in regions where maternal mortality is high because both statistics reflect absence of effectively-functioning emergency obstetric services. Recent (2005) maternal mortality estimates by the World Health Organization indicate that there are half a million maternal deaths worldwide each year, and that 99% of those deaths occur in developing countries, with slightly more than half of those deaths occurring in sub-Saharan Africa, followed by South Asia. Maternal mortality in these two regions accounted for 88% of the world's maternal deaths [4] (Figure 1).

2. DEVELOPMENT OF AN OBSTETRIC FISTULA

Obstetric fistulas usually develop from prolonged obstructed labour that occurs as the result of fetomaternal disproportion during the course of delivery. The foetal head (or other presenting part) becomes wedged into the pelvis, through which it cannot pass, trapping the woman's soft tissues between two bony plates. This in turn occludes the blood supply to the affected tissues, which then slough away to create the abnormal communication between the vagina and the bladder and/or rectum, leading to a fistula (**figure** 2). The foeto-maternal disproportion that causes obstructed labour is due either to a small pelvis (particularly in young, teenage primiparas who have become pregnant before they have reached their full adult pelvic growth), reduced pelvic proportions due to disease or injury, an abnormal foetal presentation (transverse lie, shoulder, breech, etc), or foetal macrosomia. AbouZahr has estimated that foetopelvic disproportion of this kind arises in 0.5% to 6.5% of deliveries [5], but no publications have been found to suggest what proportion of such deliveries actually result in the formation of a fistula. Harrison reported on 22,774 deliveries at the Amhadu Bello University Teaching Hospital in Zara, Nigeria [6]. He reported 70 cases of fistula in this series, giving a ratio of one fistula per 288 deliveries. In cases of obstructed labour, preventing the formation of a fistula depends on timely access to emergency caesarean delivery. In the needsassessment carried out in 20 countries as part of UNFPA's Campaign to End Fistula, caesarean section rate ranged from 0.1% to 3% [7], well below the absolute minimum rate of 5% recommended by WHO to meet maternal health needs. An analysis of data from Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) has demonstrated that access to caesarean delivery is directly linked to the poverty level based on household goods, the poor having substantially less access to care than do the rich. Using DHS data, Ronsmans and colleagues [8]have shown substantial differences in caesarean rates between urban and rural areas. Not surprisingly women living in rural areas have less access to caesarean delivery than women who live in urban areas [9]. Additional factors including cultural beliefs, perceptions of disease severity, transportation issues, and restrictions on women's social mobility may also reduce the access to caesarean section and other emergency obstetric services [10,11]. Thaddeus and Maine have suggested that there are three "stages of delay" which interact to produce maternal death and serious maternal morbidity: 1) the delay in deciding to seek care; 2). delay in arriving at a health care facility, and 3) delay in receiving adequate care at that facility [12]. The cultural and biological elements that lead to obstetric fistula formation are summarized in figure 3 [3].

A **second cause** of fistula formation is iatrogenic injury sustained during the course of delivery such as at the time of laparotomy, caesarean section, or through the use of forceps. In many cases the relationship between the intervention and the fistula cannot be determined. Many fistulas develop in women who, after labouring for several days in a remote village, finally present for care at a medical facility. There the woman undergoes a very difficult caesarean delivery, often performed under less-than-ideal circumstances, with delivery of a stillborn baby and subsequent development of a fistula. There are many cases of this type reported in the literature [13-18]. In some cases the fistula is the result of direct injury



Figure 1 : Maternal mortality map 2005



Figure 2 : The foetal head is forced into the pelvis, trapping the bladder, urethra, and other soft tissues between the foetal head and the pelvic bones. This unrelenting pressure leads first to tissue ischemia and the to tissue necrosis with fistula formation. In most cases the bladder will not have been emptied as suggested by this picture, but will be markedly overdistended. The progressive thinning of the bladder wall from overdistention increases the likelihood of ischemic injury. The level at which labour becomes obstructed is directly related to the level at which the fistula occurs, as shown in the drawing on the right. (adapted from Elkins 1994)

under these difficult circumstances; in other cases the tissues involved were already avascular from obstructed labour. There is no doubt that a proportion of fistulas developing in these circumstances will be dependent on the qualifications of the persons performing the obstetric intervention and the nature of the facility where delivery takes place, but there are few data which would allow an accurate analysis of the proportion of fistulas that are the result of surgical misadventure. Because of the lack of trained gynaecologists and general surgeons in Africa, general medical doctors, nurses and midwives have been trained to perform caesarean sections in some areas, and some success has been reported with these programs [19-22]. The long-term success of such programs is uncertain and maintenance of adequate quality of care will depend upon close and continuing supervision of such programs by trained surgeons. This is an area that requires further study.

A third group of factors causing fistulas includes accidents, sexual abuse and rape [23]. A recent review on the subject of traumatic fistulas caused by violence against women documents the presence of such cases in war-torn areas of Africa such as the Democratic Republic of Congo, Sierra Leon, Sudan, and Somalia [24]. However, the prevalence of traumatic fistulas in these areas is sometimes difficult to determine with accuracy as the authors report that many women with fistulas claim a history of sexual abuse even when this does not appear to be the case. Two articles published in the Congo Medical Journal and included in the Acquire Project review demonstrate the importance of fistulas resulting from sexual violence [24]. The study by Kalume et al revealed that 17 of the 100 female victims of sexual violence developed a fistula as a result of their injuries [25]. At the Maternity Hospital in Kindu, 36 of the 2010 female victims of sexual violence developed a fistula as the result of sexual assault (28 vesicovaginal fistulas, 2 rectovaginal fistulas and 6 combinations of both fistula types) [26]. In a study in Ethiopia, Muleta et al [27] reported on 91 girls and women with fistulas resulting from sexual violence. A study in Kenya, Nduati and Muita [28] identified two cases of fistula (one rectovaginal, one vesicovaginal) among 21 sexual abused children. These data demonstrate both the variability in the prevalence of post-violence fistulas as well as the importance of this problem in war-torn parts of Africa. More detailed studies are needed in this area.

The **last group** of causes involved in fistula formation includes traditional cutting practices based on erroneous assumptions of disease aetiology or other cultural values. In northern Nigeria, a harmful practice called *gishiri*-cutting accounts for between 2-13% of vesicovaginal fistulas. *Gishiri* is the Hausa word for "salt." It also refers to a disease state in the Hausa ethnomedical system. The belief exists that ingestion of too much salt, sugar or similar substances (especially during pregnancy) will result in the vagina becoming "encrusted," narrowed, or "covered with a filmy membrane" that will prevent the child from being born. When this condition is diagnosed (obstructed labour) a traditional healer (barber, midwife) is consulted who makes a series of *gishiri* cuts in the vagina to "relieve" this obstruction. This often results in direct trauma to the urethra or bladder, causing a fistula.

The cut is usually made on the anterior vaginal wall. Repeated cutting over a period of time may extend the incision area to the posterior vaginal wall. Wall et al [29]) identified among 932 cases of fistula 21 (2.3%) that might be caused by this practice. Tahzib found that *gishiri*-cutting was carried out in 12 of the 80 children (15%) with fistulas [30] and in 13% of the 1443 fistula patients treated at the University Hospital Ahmadu Bello between 1969 and 1980 [31].

Severe forms of female genital cutting such as like infibulations are often said to be possible contributors to the development of fistulas although there is little evidence in the world literature to support this belief. Direct injury to the urinary tract can, of course, occur at the time of "deinfibulation" or anterior episiotomy at the time of delivery (Andrew Browning, personal communication). There is evidence that women who have been subjected to female genital cutting have worse obstetric outcomes than women who have not had these procedures done. A recent study by the World Health Organization looking at the relationship between female genital cutting and obstetric outcome found that "deliveries to women who have undergone FGM are significantly more likely to be complicated by caesarean section, postpartum haemorrhage, episiotomy, extended maternal hospital stay, resuscitation of the infant, and inpatient perinatal death, than deliveries to women who have not had FGM "[32]. The authors were unable to describe any clear mechanism to explain these findings, and the study was not able to look at long-term obstetric outcomes, including fistula formation. If genital cutting practices predispose women to fistulas, the most likely explanations would be direct injury to the genitourinary system at the time of the procedure as already noted, or scarring at the vaginal outlet that leads to prolonged labour. Since most cases of obstructed labour occur higher up in the pelvis than at the outlet, it seems unlikely that female genital cutting by itself is the sole cause of the obstruction that leads to a fistula. One study from Sweden-a highly industrialized countrycompared the duration of the second stage of labour in "circumcised" immigrant and "noncircumcised" nulliparous women and found that those who had undergone female genital cutting actually had a shorter second stage than those who had not been "circumcised." The authors concluded that prolonged labour does not seem to be associated with female genital cutting in an affluent society with high standards of obstetric care [33]. Similarly, an unpublished series of 2000 patients from Ethiopia compared those with and without female genital mutilation. There was no difference between the groups with respect to classification of fistula, length of labour, parity, age and outcomes implying that female genital cutting has little or no influence on the development of obstetric fistulas (A Browning, personal communication).

3. EPIDEMIOLOGY OF FISTULAS

a) Availability and quality of data

Two major shortcomings are present in the published papers on obstetric fistulas. The first is the overall paucity of reliable data on obstetric fistulas. The second is the fact that almost all studies have been done in a hospitals where fistula repair is carried out. Such studies are subject to considerable selection bias and do not provide reliable estimates of the true incidence of fistulas worldwide [34, 35].

b) Indicators for monitoring programs in the struggle against fistulas

In 2006 the WHO proposed indicators for monitoring and evaluating fistula treatment and prevention programs (**table 1**), [36, 37]. These indicators can be subdivided in four groups: epidemiologic indicators, service delivery indicators, training indicators, and markers of the quality of care provided. There is very little information on programmatic indicators of success in the social reintegration of fistula patients [38].

c) Population-based incidence and prevalence of fistulas

A review of the recent epidemiologic literature by Stanton et al [34] has demonstrated that our knowledge of the incidence (new cases) and prevalence (alreadyexisting cases) of obstetric fistula is based on poor quality data. These authors organized the existing population-based estimates of obstetric fistula into three categories. The first category consisted of estimates reported in the scientific literature that did not specify the methods used to obtain the estimate. The most commonly quoted number was 2 million cases of obstetric fistula worldwide, with 50,000 to 100,000 new cases each year. The second group of estimates is those made by surgeons, again with no methodology clearly specified. Examples include estimates of fistula prevalence in northern Nigeria, the number of new cases each year in Ethiopia and Tanzania, the proportion of pregnant women with fistulas in Pakistan or other developing countries, and the proportion of married women with fistulas seen in Bangladesh. Although interesting, these estimates have low reliability when applied across national populations. The third group of estimates is those originating in population-based surveys where there is an adequate description of the methods used to obtain the estimates. Only four such papers could be

Table 1. Proposed indicators for monitoring and evaluating fistula prevention and treatment WHO, 2006 [115].

Epidemiologic

- Prevalence: the estimated number of women living with obstetric fistulas
- Incidence: the estimated number of news cases of obstetric fistulas per year
- Estimated rate of obstetric fistulas per 1000 deliveries
- Number of women treated for obstetric fistula per year
- · Estimate of unmet need for fistula repair

Service delivery

- Number of midwives, nurses, and physicians with midwifery skills per 1000 births
- Number of physicians or midlevel providers able to perform a caesarean delivery per 1000 births
- Proportion of births managed with a partograph
- Number of facilities providing simple fistula treatment services
- Number of centres providing specialist fistula services
- Number of fistula treatment services which include social reintegration activities
- Number of surgeons able to undertake simple repairs
- Number of surgeons able to undertake complex repairs **Training**
- Number of training facilities (pre-service and inservice including obstetric fistula prevention and treatment as part of the core syllabus
- Number of surgeons who undergo simple fistula repair training per year
- Number of in country surgeons who undergo specialist fistula training (either in country or elsewhere) per year

Quality of care

- Proportion of women who have a successful first repair at each facility. Ideally, the closure rate should be 85%, with continence achieved in 90% of women with a closed fistula (this success rate can also be disaggregated into different types of fistulas)
- Proportion of women who have had 2 or more unsuccessful repairs
- Percentage of women successfully reintegrated in their community following treatment

identified. The estimates were based on a cohort of pregnant women in western Africa, interviews of women concerning loss of urine or faeces one month after delivery in Bangladesh, model-based estimates of regional and age-specific fistula prevalence and incidence, and the lifetime prevalence of obstetric fistula from the 2005 Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) in Malawi. The cohort study of pregnant women identified only 2 fistula cases. Based solely on these 2 cases, the authors of this study reported an estimated incidence of 10.3 cases of obstetric fistula per 100,000 deliveries. The sample size of this study was clearly inadequate to generate meaningful estimates. In the study of post-partum incontinence in Bangladesh, all 3 women who responded "Yes" to the question on urinary/faecal leakage were examined by a female physician and none were found to have a fistula [34]. In 2007, Muleta and co-workers [39] found a prevalence of 1.5 non-treated fistulas per 1,000 women of reproductive age, based on interviews with 26,819 such women in Ethiopia. Since these reports of urinary and/or faecal incontinence were not confirmed by physical examination, these data are unreliable as incontinence may be due to factors other than a fistula.

The literature review by Stanton et al. suggests only 2 estimates of fistula incidence and 2 of fistula prevalence adequately describe the methods by which these estimates were obtained. These estimates vary from an empirical estimate of 124 obstetric fistulas per 100,000 deliveries for rural sub-Saharan Africa reported by Vangeenderhuysen et al [40] to a modelbased estimate of 18.8 fistulas per 100,000 women of reproductive age for all of sub-Saharan Africa reported by AbouZahr [5]. This latter estimate was only for rectovaginal fistulas and did not include vesicovaginal fistulas, which are more common than rectovaginal fistulas in all reported case series of obstetric fistulas. AbouZahr also estimated the global prevalence of obstetric rectovaginal fistulas at 654,000 cases in 1990, with 262,000 of these in sub-Saharan Africa. The only empirical estimate of the lifetime prevalence of obstetric fistula is the DHS estimate from Malawi [41], which suggested that 1 in 20 women of reproductive age were affected. The authors recommend the usefulness of the figures from the model-based estimate even when those date from 1990 because they result from a well-defined method based on the complete literature review and taking into account the age and the causes of women's death [34]. None of these data are very convincing.

d) The estimated number of obstetric fistulas per 1000 deliveries

The estimated number of obstetric fistulas per 1,000 deliveries is a way of attempting to assess a woman's risk of developing a fistula after any given delivery. Danso et al have reported the evolving trends in the number of cases of obstetric fistula per 1000 deliveries at Komfo Ankoye Teaching Hospital in Ghana,

calculated over 5-year periods from 1977 to 2004. [42]. This indicator ranged from 0.78 for the years 1977-1981 to 0.66 for the years 2002-2004 and peaked between 1987-1991 at 1.46.

e) The number of women treated for obstetric fistulas per year

The number of women treated for obstetric fistulas per year is an indicator that takes into account the capacity of the health system to care for women with fistulas. **Figure 4** demonstrates the impact of the presence of external funding to pay for the treatment of fistula patients in a rehabilitation centre in Nigeria between 1999 and 2006 [43]. Initially (1999-2002) this project (FORWARD) was funded by the UK Department of International Development. From 2003 onwards the project was funded by donations and by the government. The dependence on external funding is clearly shown by drop in cases treated when financial support was withdrawn.

f) Unmet need

This indicator takes into account the number of patients needing treatment who cannot get care. This would be the most useful information for policymakers to use in strategic planning, but this requires accurate information on the total number of fistula cases that exist in any given area. These data simply do not exist.

4. FACTORS PREDISPOSING TO THE DEVELOPMENT OF FISTULAS

A woman's obstetric history is the most salient element in the development of an obstetric fistula. It is often stated that fistula patients tend to be young women with small, immature pelves (most commonly primiparas), with an antecedent history of obstructed labour, prolonged delay in receiving emergency obstetric are, sometimes having undergone late caesarean delivery [44-51]. Creanga and Genardy [35] analysed the role of 5 socio-medical factors in the development of fistulas: age, parity, duration of labour, the place of delivery, and whether the delivery was attended by a qualified person along with the proportion of caesarean sections. The authors identified only 5 studies that included data on all these 5 factors, 7 other studies that reported data on 4 of these factors, and an additional 7 that reported data on only 3 of these factors. We have updated their work by including articles published in 2007 that reported data on these 5 socio-medical factors [52, 53]. The results of this enhanced review are presented in table 2. The proportions of young women, primiparas and caesarean deliveries are higher than in the general population. Moreover, the duration of labour in these cases is greater than 2 days, strongly suggesting that fistulas develop most commonly in young women with obstructed labour. Such predisposing factors were confirmed in a case-control study from Gombe Hospital



(Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission)

Figure 3 : The obstetric fistula pathway



Figure 4 : Evolution of the number of fistula patients receiving treatment Residential Centre of Dambatta, Nigeria [43]

Authors (year)	No of cases	Obstetric causes,%	Mean age, years (patients younger than 16, 18 or 20 years, %)	Mean, duration of labor, days	Primiparas (mean parity) %	Place of delivery, %	Cesarean delivery, %
Hilton and Ward (1998)	2484	92.2	28.0 (13.0<16, 32.0<20)	2.5	31.4 (3.5)	Home, 27.0 Hospital, 73.0	34.0
Tahzib (1983)	1443	83.8	21.0 (32 .9<16, 54.8<20)	3.0	52.0 (1.6)	Home, 64.4 Hospital, 35.6	6.7
Wall et al (2004)	932	96.5	27.0	2.4	45.8	Home, 23.5 Hospital, 76,5	40.3
Kelly and Kwast (1993)	309	97.4	22.4 (7.0<16, 42.0<20)	3.9	62.7	Home, alone or with an unskilled attendant, 60.8	7.3
Ibrahim et al. (2000)	31	100.0	(60.0, 13-15) 90,0 < 18)	4.0	81.0	Home, 16.0 Hospital, 84.0	13.0
Rijken and Chilopora (2007)	407	92.3	22.8 (32.8<20)		49.8		36.4
Nafiou et al (2007)	111	100	22.5 (25.0<20)	3.0	44.0	Home, 35.1 en route, 5.4 Hospital, 59.5	21.0

Table 2. Socio-medical risk factors associated wih obstetric fistulas

Adapted from Creanga and Genadry, 2007 and completed with two new references

in Nigeria which compared 80 women with fistulas to 80 inpatients without fistulas who were recruited randomly as a control group. Major risk factors for the development of a fistula included early age at first marriage (average 14 years), short stature (average height of 146.2 cm), illiteracy, rural residence and living at more than 3.0 km from the nearest health care facility [54].

5. PHYSICAL, SOCIAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES

Recent publications [29, 55-61] and a review by Ahmed and Holtz [62] have documented the physical, social, economic, emotional and psychological consequences of fistulas in affected women. A meta-analysis of the literature published between 1985 and 2005 showed that 36% (95% CI: 27%-46%) of women afflicted with fistulas were divorced or separated and foetal loss occurred in 85% of cases in which a fistula developed.

Low self-esteem, feelings of rejection, depression, stress, anxiety, loss of libido and loss of sexual pleasure were commonly reported by these women. It also appears that the rates of separation or divorce increases the longer a woman lives with a fistula, particularly if she remains childless [63]. Not surprisingly, successful fistula repair reduces the prevalence of these psychosocial pathologies [62].

Three recent articles further document the presence of these problems in women with fistulas. In their 2007 article on the health and social problems of women with fistulas in Ethiopia, Muleta et al [39] reported 69.2% of fistula victims were divorced, only 19.2% were members of a local community association, and 44.2% ate separately from other family members. Forty-eight of 52 women felt listless and 28 had suicidal thoughts. Goh et al [56] conducted a prospective observational study to screen women in Bangladesh and Ethiopia with fistulas for mental health dysfunction.

Of the 68 women with fistulas screened, 66 were at risk for mental dysfunction as measured by the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-28) compared with only 9 of 28 controls. In a prospective interventional study, 51 women with fistulas in the north of Ethiopia were screened for mental health issues before and 2 weeks after surgery using the GHQ-28.

Prior to surgery, all women had signs of mental dysfunction, but two weeks after fistula surgery, only 36% still had signs of mental distress. Among the 45 women who were cured of their incontinence, only 27% had signs of mental dysfunction two weeks after surgery, whereas all of the six patients who remained incontinent continued to screen positive for mental distress on the GHQ-28 [55]. These studies highlight the importance of attending to mental health issues among women who have sustained an obstetric fistula.

II. DIAGNOSIS

1. SIGNS AND SYMPTOMS

Obstetric fistulas may develop early, either after vaginal delivery or after an emergency caesarean section. Even though these women may be under medical supervision, these early fistulas may not be detected by the local staff. Many of these women leave the hospital without a baby but with a fistula [64]. Once the fistula is established, the continuous leakage of urine will lead to a foul odour, skin deterioration, and a cascade of hygienic and social problems. In most cases these women will be poor. Women may present early or late after a fistula appears.

2. CLINICAL EVALUATION

A fistula patient often has more than just a fistula. When examining and treating a woman in whom a fistula is suspected, the clinician should look for evidence of the entire 'obstetric labour injury complex' [65]. Clinical evaluation should include the assessment not only of urologic and gynaecologic injury, but also for evidence of the presence of rectovaginal fistulas, orthopaedic trauma, neurologic and dermatologic injury as well. The psychological impact of the fistula should never be underestimated. **(table 3)**

After admission, fistula patients should undergo a thorough evaluation through the taking of a detailed history, general physical examination as well as a careful pelvic examination. The site of the fistula, the condition of the surrounding tissues, and the feasibility of a vaginal surgical approach should all be assessed. In many countries the absence of advanced technology will mean that careful clinical examination will be the only tool available to the surgeon in planning a repair.

a) Urologic injury

1. BLADDER

The loss of bladder tissue from pelvic ischemia during obstructed labour affects both the technique needed for, as well as the functional outcome of, fistula repair. Loss of bladder tissue is one of the main reasons why obstetric fistula repair is technically difficult. The surgeon must try to close large defects in the bladder often with only small remnants of residual bladder tissue with which to work. Although there are as yet no basic histological studies of the tissue surrounding obstetric fistulas, it seems clear that these tissues have themselves sustained significant damage during obstructed labour. The fistula itself develops in an area which becomes necrotic; but the tissues surrounding the fistula have also suffered varying degrees of ischemia. In some cases pressure necrosis may destroy virtually the entire bladder, so that if the defect can be closed at all, the afflicted woman is left with a remarkably small (30 - 50 ml) bladder that

Table 3. The obstructed labour injury complex

Urological

Vesico-vaginal fistula Urethro-vaginal fistula Uretero-vaginal fistula Utero-vesical fistula Combined fistula

Urethral damage or loss Stress incontinence Decreased bladder compliance

Hydro-ureteronephrosis Renal failure Chronic pyelonephritis

Gynaecological

Amenorrhea Vaginal scarring and stenosis Cervical damage Pelvic inflammatory disease Infertility

Gastro-intestinal

Recto-vaginal fistula Acquired rectal stenosis Anal sphincter incompetence

Musculoskeletal Osteitis pubis

Neurological Foot-drop Neurogenic bladder

Dermatological

Excoriation of the skin

Foetal 95% foetal death

Social Social isolation Divorce Poverty

Malnutrition Depression

remains virtually functionless. Because most of the innervation of the bladder runs through the base and trigone, ischemic injury to these areas probably also produces an element of neuropathic bladder dysfunction. Basic scientific studies confirming this hypothesis have yet to be undertaken.

Clinically it will be important to assess the **number and size of the fistulas**, their location, the amount of fibrosis present, and any involvement of the ureters and or the urethra.

Clinical experience also suggests that bladder

compliance may be altered by the extensive fibrotic changes that often take place. To date there have been few urodynamic studies reported on patients who have undergone successful fistula closure [66, 67]. In the former study bladder compliance was not measured. In the latter study by Carey et al., of 22 women with severe urinary incontinence after fistula closure, 9 had urodynamic stress incontinence with normal bladder compliance, 3 had urodynamic stress incontinence with poor bladder compliance, 9 had mixed incontinence, and one had voiding difficulty with incomplete bladder emptying and overflow. There is a great need for further investigation of these issues; unfortunately, those hospitals most likely to see large numbers of patients with obstetric fistulas also usually lack the resources for more advanced urologic investigation.

A number of patients with vesicovaginal fistulas develop vesical calculi [68, 69]. Often these bladder stones develop in association with a foreign body in the vagina. In some cases a foreign body may have been the original cause of the fistula (such as an object used for masturbation or a container filled with traditional herbal medicines, placed in the vagina for an ostensibly therapeutic purpose). In other cases, the stone may form in association with an object that was placed into the vagina in an attempt to plug the fistula and prevent urine loss, which subsequently became stuck, eventually became calcified, and ultimately increased the overall misery of the afflicted woman. In other cases, no foreign body can be found. Frequently in these cases it is the increasing pain associated with stone formation that causes the suffering patient to present for care. In fistula cases complicated by the presence of vesical calculi, the stone is often located supratrigonally and the bladder may be able to hold at least a small amount of urine in the vicinity of the calculus (which allows for its continued growth) [69].

Removal of the stone (usually at a separate operation) is a prerequisite for successful fistula closure in such cases. After stone removal, the bladder should be allowed to heal prior to attempted fistula closure. If this is not done, there is substantial risk of post-operative infection and breakdown of the repair.

2. URETHRA

The ischemic changes produced by obstructed labour often have a devastating impact on urethral function. Complete urethral loss occurs in about 5% of fistula patients, with about 30% of fistula patients sustaining partial urethral injury. Goh et al. found that up to 63% of fistula patient have sustained some injury to the urethra [70]. The great Egyptian fistula surgeon Naguib Mahfouz was well aware of this problem [71].

Mahfouz stated [71] that fistulas "in which the whole urethra has sloughed" are "the most troublesome of

all." The experience of subsequent surgeons seems to bear this out. In a 1980 series of 1,789 fistula patients, Sister Ann Ward reported that only 26 cases were inoperable; but in all 26 urethral loss was present [72]. There are no comparative surgical studies that evaluate differing techniques of urethral reconstruction in patients with obstetric fistulas. There are no data on post-operative urethral function. Work of this kind is badly needed.

3. URETERS

Ureterovaginal fistulas from direct injury to the distal ureter during obstructed labour are uncommon, comprising only about 1% of fistula cases. Depending on the amount of tissue that is lost at the bladder base, the ureteral orifices can be found in bizarre locations, ranging from the lateral vaginal walls all the way up to the level of the vesico-urethral junction and the pubic arch (**Figure 5**).

Aberrant ureteral locations of this kind can easily be missed on clinical examination and are one cause of persistent incontinence after otherwise "successful" fistula closure. Standard urological tools such as ureteral stents are usually not always available in hospitals in the developing world, and most of the surgeons who work in such hospitals are not trained in "urologic" techniques such as ureteral reimplantation [73].



Figure 5 : Complex fistula with intravaginal ureters

4. KIDNEYS

The incidence of secondary injury to the upper urinary tract in fistula patients has received little study, but this phenomenon appears to be clinically important. Clinical experience suggests that renal failure is a common cause of death in women with obstetric fistulas.

Upper tract damage could result from chronic ascending infection, obstruction from distal ureteral scarring, or even from reflux in very young patients. Lagundoye et al [74] found that 49% of fistula patients

had some abnormality of the kidneys when intravenous urograms were performed. Most of the pathology that was detected consisted of minor calyceal blunting, but 34% of patients had hydro-ureter, 9.7% had ureteral deviation, four patients had bladder stones, and 10 patients had a non-functioning kidney. More research is needed in this field. latrogenic causes of hydronephrosis and renal insufficiency may also exist. Injury of the ureters during the surgery or scarring in the post-operative phase might play a role, but data to support this are currently missing.

b) Gynecologic injury

1. VAGINA

An impaction of the foetal head serious enough to cause ischemic injury to the bladder will also cause ischemic injury to the vagina, which is likewise trapped between the two bony surfaces. These injured areas heal with varying degrees of scarring. A small sonographic study by Adetiloye and Dare [75] detected fibrotic changes in 32% of fistula patients and minor vaginal wall fibrosis in another 36%. Vaginal injuries in fistula patients exist along a spectrum that includes only small focal bands of scar tissue on one end all the way to virtual obliteration of the vaginal cavity on the other. Roughly 30% of fistula patients require some form of vaginoplasty at the time of fistula repair. The degree of vaginal injury has several important implications. In the first instance, severe vaginal injury results in loss of substantial portions of the vagina. In many instances the scarring is such that vaginal intercourse is simply not possible. There is very little information available on the sexual functioning of fistula patients, yet this is obviously an important concern in healthy marital relationships and undoubtedly contributes to the high rates of separation and divorce that appear common among these women. Browning et al. noted that among 240 fistula patients only 7.1% were having sexual intercourse prior to surgery and of those who were sexually active, 17.6% had dyspareunia. Six months after surgery 35% of patients were sexually active. Of those, 10.0% had dyspareunia. The main reasons for lack of sexual relations were divorce, anxiety about damaging the repair, widowhood or a scarred vagina [63].

Surgical repair of fistulas in women with extensive vaginal scarring often requires the use of flaps and tissue grafts in order to close the fistula. Little work has been done to assess whether or not sexual function normalizes in women who have had such operations. The presence of scarring that requires the use of plastic surgical techniques of this kind markedly reduces the effectiveness of surgical repair when fistula closure is attempted by surgeons who lack experience in reconstructive gynaecologic surgery. Although several papers have described various techniques for vaginoplasty that may be required in fistula patients [76-78], there is a pressing need to investigate the role of vaginal plastic surgery at the time of fistula repair and to evaluate subsequent sexual functioning in patients who require surgery of this kind [79].

Vaginal scarring impacts on more than just sexual functioning. The presence of vaginal scarring appears to be an important prognostic factor in determining the likelihood both of successful fistula closure, and also for the development of debilitating urinary stress incontinence after otherwise successful fistula repair. In one unpublished series of 26 fistula patients with severe vaginal scarring, 57.7 percent suffered from stress incontinence after fistula repair and 23.5 percent had a persistent or recurrent fistula. This would compare to an expected stress incontinence rate of around 26% and a failed fistula closure rate of about 7% in the overall population of fistula patients (Arrowsmith, personal communication). Kelly and Kwast have also reported worsening surgical outcome in fistula patients who have vaginal scarring than in those without such findings [80].

2. CERVIX, UTERUS, AND FUTURE REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE

From an obstetric point of view, timely termination of obstructed labour requires operative intervention, most often by caesarean delivery. When timely access to caesarean section is not available, prolonged obstructed labour results in a high rate of uterine rupture, usually with catastrophic consequences for both mother and child. For example, Ekele and coworkers reported one uterine rupture for every 79 deliveries in Sokoto, Nigeria, an impoverished rural area with poor obstetric services [81]. Caesarean delivery in such cases is often lifesaving, but in some cases it may also be implicated in the formation of a vesico-uterine fistula [82-84]. Vesico-uterine fistulas can present in different ways, depending on their location, size, and the degree of patency of the endocervical canal. The least troublesome vesicouterine fistulas do not result in incontinence, but are characterized by the absence of vaginal menstruation in the presence of cyclic haematuria ("menouria" or "Youssef's syndrome"), whereby the menstrual flow exits exclusively through the urinary tract [85-87]. Other vesico-uterine fistulas may be associated with various combinations of altered menstruation and either periodic or continuous incontinence. The finding most characteristic of an uterovesical fistula is demonstrable loss of urine through the cervix (a finding that also occurs with vesicocervical fistulas). In the absence of operative intervention, uterovesical and vesicocervical fistulas are relatively rare.

Many patients sustain severe **cervical damage** as well as vaginal injury during the course of obstructed labour. It is rare to see a completely normal cervix when examining a fistula patient. In the worst cases, prolonged obstructed labour may result in complete cervical destruction, leaving the patient with no identifiable cervical tissue at all. Unfortunately, detailed descriptions of the condition of the cervix have not been included in the case series of fistulas published to date. Since cervical competence is such an important factor in future reproductive performance, this is yet another clinical area that demands further study. Other studies have shown amenorrhea rates from 25% to 44% [88-90]. Many of these patients undoubtedly have hypothalamic or pituitary dysfunction [89]. A follow up study by Browning et al. showed that while the amenorrhea rate was 58% pre-operatively, this rate improved to 29% at 6 months after surgery, suggesting a recovery of ovulation in a proportion of operated women [63]. While the high incidence of amenorrhea in vesicovaginal fistula patients is widely recognized, only one unpublished study has been done to date looking specifically at uterine pathology in the vesicovaginal fistula population. Dosu Ojengbede of the University of Ibadan (personal communication) performed hysteroscopy on fistula patients in Nigeria and found that intrauterine scarring and Asherman's syndrome were common in these women. The combination of widespread amenorrhea, vaginal scarring, and cervical destruction leads to a tremendous problem of secondary infertility among these patients. To date, there have been no serious scientific efforts to explore treatment of cervical and uterine damage in vesicovaginal fistula patients.

Subsequent reproductive performance of women who have had an obstetric vesicovaginal fistula has been analyzed in a few articles [88, 90-92]. Emembolu analyzed the subsequent reproductive performance of 155 fistula patients delivered at Ahmadu Bello University Teaching Hospital in Zaria, Nigeria, between January 1986 and December, 1990 [92]. This series included pregnancies in 75 women who became pregnant after successful fistula closure and 80 women who became pregnant while still afflicted with an unrepaired fistula that had occurred in a previous pregnancy. The data presented do not allow one to determine the subsequent fertility rates of women who develop a fistula, but clearly indicate that women can, and do, become pregnant after sustaining an obstetric fistula. The proportion of booked pregnancies receiving antenatal care was higher in the repaired group (73%) than in the unrepaired group (51%), and reproductive performance was better (but still dismal) in those patients who had had a fistula repair. Of the 69 patients whose fistulas had been repaired, there was a recurrence of the fistula in 8 (11.6%), and among those undergoing a trial of vaginal delivery, the fistula recurrence rate was nearly 27%. In women with pre-existing, unrepaired fistulas who became pregnant but who did not register for prenatal care in the subsequent pregnancy, maternal mortality and morbidity in those pregnancies was high, reflecting continuation of the conditions that led to fistula formation in the first place [92].

The commonest maternal morbidity, excluding recurrence of vesicovaginal fistulas, was haemorrhage requiring blood transfusion in 35 patients (27.3%). Others included ruptured uterus in 3 unbooked patients whose fistula had not been repaired, bladder injury at caesarean section in 1.6% and acute renal failure in 0.8%. Maternal complications occurred more frequently in the patients whose fistula had not been repaired and who were also unbooked.

The largest series is that of Aimakhu, who analyzed subsequent reproductive performance in 246 women who underwent successful fistula closure at University College Hospital in Ibadan, Nigeria, between 1957 and 1966 [88]. Only 48 patients became pregnant following fistula repair with a total of 65 pregnancies. All but 6 of these were managed at University College Hospital. Five patients aborted prior to the 16th week of gestation, leaving only 60 viable pregnancies. The plan was to perform elective caesarean section on all patients who became pregnant after fistula repair, but only 49 caesarean operations were carried out. The results of the vaginal deliveries were not encouraging. Patients who underwent caesarean delivery fared better. There were 49 babies delivered and 47 survived. There was no recurrent fistula among women previously repaired who became pregnant and had a subsequent caesarean section. There was one maternal death from pulmonary embolism in a woman who underwent an emergency delivery at 32 weeks gestation due to a prolapsed fetal umbilical cord.

c) The rectovaginal fistula

Rectovaginal fistulas appear to be significantly less common than vesicovaginal fistulas. In case series of patients presenting with vesicovaginal fistulas, between 6% and 24% have a combined rectovaginal and vesicovaginal fistula (Figure 6) [29-31, 49, 93-102]. In most series, isolated rectovaginal fistulas are less common than combined fistulas. Indeed, most series do not even mention isolated rectovaginal fistulas as a clinical phenomenon. In a series of patients from Turkey reported by Yenen and Babuna [103], 7.1% had rectovaginal fistulas and 6.5% had "combined" fistulas. From the report it is not clear if this latter figure was comprised solely of rectovaginal and vesicovaginal fistulas, or if it included other combinations of urinary tract fistulas as well (vesicocervicovaginal, urethrovaginal, etc.). Kelly and Kwast [80] reporting data from the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, noted a 15.2% pre-valence of combined fistulas, and a 6.8% prevalence of isolated rectovaginal fistulas in that population. Ethiopia appears to have one of the highest rates of rectovaginal fistulas reported in the literature. Whether this relates to specific obstetric characteristics of the Ethiopian population or whether this relates to other social factors - such as the cases of rape and sexual abuse of young Ethiopian girls reported by Muleta and Williams [27] — is unclear.



(by courtesy of A. Browning)

Figure 6 : rectovaginal fistula

Since the pubic symphysis poses an obstruction to delivery through the anterior pelvis, in normal birth mechanics the foetal head is normally forced posteriorly towards the rectum, anus, and perineum at the end of the second stage of labour. In nonobstructed labour, direct laceration of the perineum is not uncommon, occasionally resulting in a complete perineal tear with complete disruption of the anal sphincter. If this is not repaired, a complete perineal tear with sphincter disruption can create a rectovaginal fistula at the anal outlet [104]. This mechanism of fistula formation seems more likely to account for low rectovaginal fistulas, whereas rectovaginal fistulas higher in the pelvis would seem more likely to be caused by direct tissue compression from obstructed labour.

d) Orthopaedic trauma

Ischemic injury from obstructed labour not only affects pelvic organs, but also the pelvis itself. These changes are most pronounced in the pubic symphysis. The normal radiography of the symphysis pubis has been described in detail by Vix and Ryu [105]. In obstructed labour, the pubic bones are often directly involved as they form one side of the bony vice in which the vulnerable soft tissues are trapped. In fistulas where large amounts of bladder tissue are lost, the periosteum of the pubic arch can often be palpated directly through the fistula defect. It is these cases in which ischemic damage to the pubic bones is most likely to be demonstrable. In a study of 312 Nigerian women with obstetric vesicovaginal fistulas Cockshott [106] detected bony abnormalities in plain pelvic radiographs in 32 percent of these patients. The findings included bone resorption, marginal fractures and bone spurs, bony obliteration of the symphysis, and wide (>1 cm) symphyseal separation. Most of these changes appear to be the result of avascular necrosis of the pubic symphysis. Their long-term significance remains uncertain and further study is required.

e) Neurologic injury

Another tragic injury associated with obstetric fistula formation is footdrop [107]. The relationship between difficult labour and neurological injury has been known for centuries, and the condition was traditionally called "obstetric palsy" [108]. Women with this condition are unable to dorsiflex the foot and therefore walk with a serious limp, dragging their injured foot, and using a stick for support (Figure 7). Sinclair's paper on maternal obstetric palsy in South Africa [108], made the comment that "There are no records of this lesion associated with vaginal fistulas, where there has been prolonged pressure by the foetal skull in the lower part of the pelvis." This statement is clearly wrong. In Waaldijk and Elkins' review of 947 fistula patients, nearly 65% of those studied prospectively had evidence of peroneal injury either by history or physical examination [107]. The prevalence of clinical footdrop among patients seen at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital is about 20% [65].

Various theories have been proposed for the aetiology of this condition. In general clinical series of peroneal nerve palsy, the most common aetiologies appear to be direct trauma from ankle inversion, fractures of the hip, femur, fibula or tibia; knee injuries, alcoholic neuropathies, and a variety of miscellaneous or idiopathic causes. In obstetric patients the lesion most likely develops from one of three causes: prolapse of an intravertebral disk, pressure from the foetal head on the lumbo-sacral nerve trunk in the pelvis leading



Foot-drop from obstructed labour. Due to injury of the lumbosacral nerve plexus and/or the common peroneal nerve, the patient is unable to dorsiflex her foot. (Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission)



to direct compression of the peroneal nerve, or direct trauma to the peroneal nerve from prolonged squatting and pushing in the second stage of labour [108-110]. There is very limited experience with the performance of electromyography on fistula patients. Bademosi and colleagues performed EMG studies on 34 Nigerian women with obstetric neuropraxia at the University of Ibadan and found that 88% of the lesions were due to lumbosacral plexus injury high in the pelvis [111].

Footdrop has also been associated with trauma sustained in difficult forceps deliveries, particularly mid-pelvic rotations, but again, as others have emphasized "The peripheral nerve lesion following instrumental delivery may have developed in any case and forceps were but incidental or at the most a precipitating factor in border-line cases" (Sinclair 1952). The prognosis for recovery from this injury is unclear, as there are no proper prospective studies of women who have developed this condition. Waaldijk and Elkins suggest that most patients recover some or all of their nerve function spontaneously within two years of the injury [107]; however 13% showed persistent signs of nerve trauma. In some cases the affected women are almost completely crippled from bilateral lesions and suffer tremendously from the additional burden imposed by immobility on someone who already suffers from intractable urinary incontinence.

Physiotherapy and the use of posterior splints improve the condition of some patients. Others may require surgical intervention: the use of posterior tibialis tendon transfer is a well-established procedure for patients with footdrop from other causes (such as leprosy), and it may be that this method will be useful in treating women with unresponsive obstetric palsy as well [112, 113].

f) Dermatologic injury

Skin lesions can be variable, depending on the importance of the leakage, the duration of the leakage and the level of hygiene. The condition of the skin, which is in constant contact with a stream of urine and/or faeces, is one of the most bothersome problems for the fistula patient (**Figure 8**). In some women minimal skin damage will be noted, while in other extreme causes, the vulvar skin might be covered with uric acid crystals and salts or might be superinfected.

g) Psychological injury

The consequences of isolation, divorce etc... have been described in II.5. Depression has a high prevalence in patients with obstetric fistula. Care must be taken to acknowledge these factors. A significant improvement can be expected after successful surgery in many patients.



(SOLFA, used by permission)

Figure 8 : Skin problems

3. EVALUATION WITH ADVANCED TECHNOLOGY

The use of technology beyond simple physical diagnostic techniques in women with fistulas will depend entirely on the local availability of such resources. Cystoscopy, ureteral catheterisation, ultrasound or radiographic examination and urodynamic testing facilities are not always present. Utilization of modern diagnostic techniques might be especially useful in the evaluation of the upper urinary tract and in developing strategies for long-term follow-up of fistula patients. The ability to obtain some basic or advanced laboratory tests, would also be useful in many cases. At a minimum, it is desirable to have basic haematology and electrolyte testing available, if the data can be trusted. HIV testing is optional.

III. FISTULA PREVENTION

Preventing obstetric fistulas is an enormous task that will depend largely on continuous improvements in the maternal healthcare infrastructure of the countries where fistulas are prevalent. The magnitude of the needs in this part of the world is staggering. Waaldijk has stated that at least 75,000 new obstetric units should be built across Africa to deliver adequate perinatal care and to prevent new cases of fistulas [114].

Historical experience from Western countries suggests that fistula prevention can only be accomplished by providing good antenatal screening and surveillance of ongoing pregnancies, delivery in the presence of trained birth attendants, and prompt access to emergency obstetric services when problems arise during labour. In fistula-prevalent areas, basic emergency obstetric care is usually inaccessible due to problems with transportation and referral centres for advanced care are usually far away for women living in rural areas. A recent survey by UNFPA and UNICEF showed that each African country assessed had only one emergency obstetric unit per 500 000 inhabitants and none had the recommended number of facilities for the provision of basic emergency obstetric care. The unmet obstetrical needs were huge: only 8.2-35% of women with complications during labour received care at an appropriate facility [115]. Even when a woman with a complication arrives at such a facility, the receipt of good care is not guaranteed. In most countries the patient must pay for emergency care, including caesarean section and many families simply cannot afford the cost involved or are left in debt afterwards for many years [116].

In addition to creating centres for emergency obstetric care, adequate training for health care professionals has to be provided, financing mechanisms have to be established and access to these facilities has to be guaranteed for all patients who need these services. This is an enormous task and most governments in the developing world do not have the necessary resources for it (or the political will to carry such projects out). Western aid organizations are often more interested in funding the treatment of women with fistulas than with doing the hard work of constructing primary care obstetric units or funding the provision of emergency obstetric services [117]. What is clear is that perinatal care is grossly inadequate due to the large number of vesicovaginal fistulas that is being reported in many developing countries. It is also clear that there are multiple reasons that young mothers at risk of obstructed labour do not attend medical facilities, most of which have already been described. Even when patients in need arrive at a healthcare facility, they may not receive the care they need. This situation is described eloquently by Sundari in his paper on how health care systems in the developing countries contribute to maternal mortality [11]. The same problems are applicable to the prevention of fistulas. Thaddeus and Maine (1994) have elaborated on the three causes of delay that contribute to maternal mortality. These same causes of delay contribute to obstetric fistula formation once labour becomes obstructed.

1. PATIENT FACTORS

- Delay in arriving at a healthcare facility
- Non-use or non-availability of prenatal care
- Transportation problems
- Financial problems
- Lack of women's authority over decision-making regarding healthcare
- Lack of information about risk factors, health problems, availability of services

2. QUALITY OF CARE FACTORS

- Shortage of trained personnel
- Lack of equipment
- Poor patient management

The lack of decent training is prevalent and is the result of the interaction of many different factors. There is wide high variability in the quality of training and in the curricula at many African universities and teaching hospitals. Once trained, local doctors may experience difficulties in maintaining their skills because of political issues, lack of equipment, and administrative decisions by local health authorities. In many developing countries poor staff training is compounded by the fact that only a 'survival health economy' exists, meaning that elective surgery is usually delayed until an emergency exists. Many pregnant women will have been warned about the risk of obstructed labour and its consequences, but simply do not have the money to undergo elective caesarean section even when it is advisable. Many local doctors depend on private income in order to survive in difficult economic situations. Inappropriate operations may compound the healthcare delivery problems that already exist. In India, where industrialisation is more advanced and the healthcare system is better than that of most African countries, caesarean sections are being misused for profit in the private sector of some of the states [118].

Ideally, therefore, fistula centres should be developed in collaboration with other maternal healthcare initiatives and they should also be prepared to provide services dealing with the entire obstructed labour injury complex and its consequences. A comprehensive approach that combines a curative setting with prevention is being advocated by many [119]. Doing this effectively will require the establishment of incentives at multiple levels throughout the healthcare system.

a) At the level of the patient

- Prenatal care is important because it plugs patients into the healthcare system and helps them access care when emergencies arise.
- "Maternity waiting homes" can be established for women at high risk of obstetric complications [120-123]. They then stay in the vicinity of the hospital until labour begins, at which time they are transferred to the hospital for monitoring and intervention. The success of such programs depends on multiple factors operating at the local level (D. De Ridder, personal observation RD Congo 1987).
- Local radio or television shows involving former fistula patients can help create awareness about these problems and provide social mobilization.
- Young women and men should be educated about the risks of bearing children at too young an age.

Changing traditional customs of early marriage will require steady and prolonged pressure over time, but is one of the most important social interventions

- These measures should be incorporated in a wider program that emphasizes education for girls and women. This is an extremely effective means of promoting maternal health [124] [7].

b) Professional level

Local midwifes and doctors should be trained to screen for injuries associated with obstructed labour. It is not uncommon for a patient to undergo an emergency caesarean and to leave hospital later with a vesicovaginal fistula without any of the medical staff being aware of this problem (D. De Ridder, personal observation, Kisantu RD Congo 2007).

Several challenges are present:

- · Continuing education on perinatal care
- Screening patients for risk factors
- Adequate and improved technical obstetrical skills
- Appropriate postoperative care
- Early detection of fistula formation
- Staff accountability for the quality of care provided
- Hospital level
- Careful record keeping
- Social accountability

c) Community level

At the community the level, awareness about the availability of antenatal care and the risk of obstetric fistula formation ought to be increased. Some fistula centres note that up to 30% of their patients are being referred by former patients who are now cured. Ways should be explored to use former patients as a mechanism to increase awareness of the problem and to organize prevention strategies, perhaps by monitoring women at the village level to detect prolonged labour early in its course.

Community-wide associations to promote maternal health should be encouraged, linking local farmers' unions, women's organisations, and religious associations, for example.

Patients often depend on their own finances or those of their relatives to be able to pay for health services. This is one of the main reasons for not undergoing timely caesarean sections in many countries. Local communities should be encouraged to embark on microfinance projects and revolving community credit schemes to help finance promote prompt access to emergency obstetric services when problems arise. Such projects could be facilitated within their catchment areas by fistula centres. Research in this area should be encouraged [125-130].

d) The Indian example

A national family health survey in India revealed that 65% of the births in rural areas took place in the homes of the women's parents and that only one in seven deliveries was attended by trained health practitioners. According to the Indian government's annual report in 2001-2002, maternal morbidity and mortality had not changed in the last four decades [131]. In the three years preceding the India's National Family Health Survey 1998-1999 (NFHS-2), 35% of pregnant women received no antenatal care. This is only marginally better than the 36% in the 1992-1993 NFHS [132]. The government shifted its focus during the 1990s from contraceptive and fertility reduction targets and incentives for population control toward a broader system of performance goals and measures designed to encourage a wider range of reproductive and child health services. This approach seeks to address issues such as safe motherhood, safe abortion, and the quality of health services. Under this broader approach, the government initiated the Child Survival and Safe Motherhood Programme in 1992 in partnership with the World Bank and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF). In spite of such measures vesicovaginal fistulas and other urinary fistulas are still common. In rural areas, the majority of women with fistulas are not getting proper treatment. The results of surgery by surgeons who operate on these problems only rarely are so poor that many of them have abandoned the treatment of such cases altogether. Although the surgical results are good in hands of experienced surgeons, such practitioners are often more interested in procedures that have the potential for high financial gain, such as endo-urology and laparoscopy. Consequently, the majority of fistula patients are neglected. In urban areas where more surgeons are available, early caesarean delivery in cases of prolonged labour has reduced the obstetric causes of fistulas but there has been a concurrent increase in the number of fistulas resulting from gynaecological surgery (vesicovaginal fistulas, ureterovaginal fistulas, and uterovaginal fistulas).

In Kerala, one of the states of India that has achieved universal literacy, institutional deliveries have been made compulsory. This has resulted in a drastic reduction in maternal morbidity, and particularly in a reduction of obstetric fistulas [133]. In Kerala there is a more equitable distribution of health facilities and consequently better utilisation. Improved education has increase access to such services and there is also is a higher degree of political awareness among the people in rural Kerala. Nag concluded that governments should give higher priority to social equity than to economic equity. In that state a rising trend in caesarean rates is seen and up to 28% of the first live births occurred by caesarean section [134]. The availability of these services is much appreciated by the local women and the use of the services was excellent (99% of a cohort of women participating in a survey visited a doctor at least 3 times during the pregnancy [135].

IV. CLASSIFICATION SYSTEMS

There is currently no uniform system for classifying fistulas and a wide variety of different systems have been proposed. Classification of fistulas is important only to the extent that the classification has a meaningful relationship to the prognosis of the injury. In recent attempts at fistula classification the size of the fistula and involvement of the urethral closing mechanism are taken into account. Some systems attempt to classify fistulas according to the anticipated degree of difficulty of the repair, while others classify them according to the type of surgical intervention that will be needed [36]. Systems based on the anatomical appearance of the fistula do not necessarily predict the difficulty of repair nor the post-operative prognosis [136]. Table 4 lists the most common classification systems in current use. Recently a large international multicenter study has started in an attempt to develop a prospectively-validated system for classifying fistulas (R. Genadry, personal communication 2008).

V. CONSERVATIVE MANAGEMENT

Little is known about the conservative treatment of vesico-vaginal fistula. As mentioned above, the diagnosis of a fistula is often missed by medical staff in the early phase after its development. This may be due to neglect by the staff or due to a patient who is eager to return home as soon as possible after delivery who simply thinks the initial urinary leakage is a normal consequence of her difficult delivery. Waaldijk published his personal experience with the conservative approach to fresh obstetric fistula [137-139]. He reported a series of 1716 patients with fresh obstetric fistulas, of whom 265 were treated conservatively with a CH 18 indwelling catheter. If there was no sign of healing after 4 weeks, a surgical approach was utilized. All but one of these women were cured by catheter drainage alone. Unfortunately, he provided no data on fistula size or location in this subgroup.

A recent evidence-based review by Bazi T. on the spontaneous closure of vesicovaginal fistula after bladder drainage alone came to the following conclusions [140]:

- It was not possible to correlate the aetiology of the fistula (obstetric or gynaecologic) with the likelihood of success

Classification	Description	Size
Marion Sims (1852)	 Urethrovaginal Bladder neck Body and floor of bladder Utero-vesical 	
Mc Connachie (1958)	Grade 1: normal healthy tissue Grade 2: mild scarring Grade 3: more scarring, poor vaginal access Grade 4: repeat repair	Type A: <1cm Type B: >1 but <2cm Type C: >2cm Type D: A,B or C with rectovaginal fistula
	1) luxta-urethral	
	 a) Juxta-cervical b) Juxta-cervical c) Vault combination fistula 	
Hamlin (1969)	 Simple vesico-vaginal Simple recto-vaginal Simple urethra-vaginal Vesico-uterine High rectovaginal fistula Complex fistula 	
Waaldijk (1995)	 Type 1: not involving closing mechanism Type 2: involving closing mechanism A) Without (sub)total urethral involvement B) With (sub)total urethral involvement a. No circumferential defect b. Circumferential defect Type 3: ureteric and exceptional fistula 	
Arrowsmith (2007)	Scarring score: 1 mild 2 moderate 3 severe Urethral status score: 0 intact, 2 partial damage 3 complete loss	
Goh (2004)	<i>Location of fistula:</i> Type 1: distal edge >3,5cm from urethral meatus Type 2: distal edge 2,5-3,5 cm from urethral meatus Type 3: distal edge 1,5-2,5cm from urethral meatus Type 4: distal edge <1,5cm from urethral meatus <i>Fibrosis :</i> i. None or mild ii. Moderate or severe iii. Special consideration	a) <1,5cm diameter b) 1,5-3cm diameter c) >3cm diameter
WHO (2006)	Good prognosis/simple: Single fistula Vesicovaginal fistula Closing mechanism not involved No scarring No circumferential defect Minimal tissue loss Ureters not involved First attempt to repair Complicated/uncertain prognosis: Multiple fistula Rectovaginal, mixed fistula, cervical fistula Closing mechanism involved Scarring Circumferential defect Extensive tissue loss Intravaginal ureters or bladder stones Failed previous repair	<4cm

Table 4 : Classification systems

- Most fistulas reported cured by catheter drainage alone are small, usually less than 1 cm in diameter.
- It was not possible to establish a relationship between fistula size and outcome, although a 5mm diameter has been set as an arbitrary cut-off limit.
- Duration of drainage utilized varies between 10 days and six weeks, but has not been studied properly
- No data are available on which type of catheter drainage yields the best results
- Fresh fistulas are more likely to close than those of longstanding duration

The conclusion reached was that conservative management of a fresh fistula may be an option in small fistulas, but it healing has not taken place within a few weeks, surgical repair will likely to be required for cure.

VI. SURGICAL MANAGEMENT

Fistula surgery requires some form of anaesthesia. The position used during fistula surgery depends on the nature and location of the fistula to be repaired. For the vast majority of fistulas a high lithotomy position with the buttocks pulled well over the edge of the operating table (in steep Trendelenburg position), with or without episiotomies provides excellent exposure (**Figure 9**). Surgery in this position can safely be performed under spinal anaesthesia, which is the cheapest and easiest form of anaesthesia for "low technology" settings in developing countries. Spinal anaesthesia can be administered by the surgeon which is an advantage over general anaesthesia [141].

Vaginal surgery for small fistulas can be attempted under local anaesthesia [142]. Larger or more complex fistulas can be treated under spinal anaesthesia, which is to be preferred over epidural or general anaesthesia [143]. Spinal anaesthesia will yield a better pain control than epidural anaesthesia in rural settings [144].

Alternative positions are the knee-chest position, which is uncomfortable for the patient and generally requires intubation. Operating by the abdominal route increases the cost and time of the operation, but is still often performed for some high fistulas where surgical access is problematic. Experienced fistula surgeons may be able to repair such defects vaginally. A retrospective study by Chigbu compared the outcome of juxtacervical fistula through the vaginal or abdominal approach [145].

Both approaches had similar cure rates and hospital stays, but the abdominal route was associated with a significantly higher need for blood transfusion. General anaesthesia is also more expensive, more



(SOLFA, used by permission)

Figure 9 : Positioning for fistula repair

complicated to administer, carries more risks, and should therefore be reserved for those patients who need an abdominal approach.

1. THE SIMPLE FISTULA

In practiced hands, skilled fistula surgeons routinely achieve a closure rate of over 80% for simple fistulas at the time of first operation. Multiple papers reporting large case series support this contention [29, 49, 71, 94-103, 146-161].

A fairly general consensus concerning the basic principles of fistula repair was reached at the first 'Fistula Surgeons Experts Meeting' at the WHO in Geneva 2004. These principles can be summarized as follows:

- The best chance for successful fistula closure is at the first operation and closure rates tend to diminish with each subsequent attempt at operative repair. In their large series of 2,484 obstetric fistula patients, Hilton and Ward (1998) reported successful fistula closure in 82.8% of patients at the first attempt. Successful closure was achieved in only 65% of those patients who required two or more operations. Another unpublished series of 400 patients from the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital reported a successful closure rate of 92% and urethral incontinence of 33% at the first operation, a closure rate of 73% and urethral incontinence rate of 50% at the second operation and a closure rate of only 52% and urethral incontinence of 75% at the third operation (Browning, personal communication).
- The ureters should be identified and protected to ensure they are not cut or ligated during the fistula repair (if the site and size of the fistula puts them in proximity to the operative field).
- The fistula should be widely mobilized from the surrounding tissues at the time of repair.

- The fistula should be closed without tension on the site of repair.
- The repair must be 'water-tight'. To ensure this, a dye test is performed intra-operatively and if there is still leakage, the repair is sutured again. There is one very experienced fistula surgeon who does not do this, preferring to drain the bladder continuously for up to 4 weeks postoperatively.
- After fistula repair the bladder should be kept on free drainage for 10-14 days. There is some weak evidence that 10 days of drainage is just as effective at six months follow up (for fistulas of less than 3 cm diameter with mild to moderate scarring) [162]. This change in catheter management could make a significant impact on the resources of hospitals where these operations are performed. If the time needed for postoperative bladder drainage could be reduced by 4 days, the capacity of the hospital to care for fistula patients would increase by 30% just from this gain in efficiency.
- There is debate as to whether or not a Martius bulbocavernosus flap or other graft should be used in fistula repair. The argument has always been that such practices bring in a new blood supply to help nourish the injured tissues surrounding the fistula. One retrospective paper compared the surgical outcomes of operations involving similar fistulas repaired with and without use of the Martius flap and demonstrated a higher successful closure rate when such a flap was employed [163]. Another more recent retrospective analysis evaluated 400 patients in which comparable fistulas were repaired with and without the use of a flap showed no differences between the two groups in closure rates or postoperative incontinence rates [164]. Many experienced fistula surgeons now only use grafts under rare circumstances, such as when the urethra has been reconstructed, when the tissues are particularly poor, or if there have been multiple previous attempts at repair.
- · The defect in the vagina is closed.

Each fistula is unique, and an ability to improvise in the face of unexpected findings or complications is a virtue that every fistula surgeon must strive to develop. However, by following the above principles and the application of these to each fistula, most defects can be closed with a high success rate (**Figure 10**).

While it is impossible to describe in detail every type of fistula that might be encountered, the following is a general description of the flap-splitting technique of fistula repair developed by the Hamlins in Ethiopia and used in the repair of nearly 30,000 fistulas. This technique is currently employed by the majority of fistula surgeons around the world. The different steps of this generally accepted technique are illustrated in figures 11-19. The operation described is for a simple, uncomplicated fistula. What constitutes a "simple case?" This is a case that has a high chance of cure and is suitable for those without expensive experience in fistula surgery. Only about 20% of obstetric fistulas can be defined as simple. Simple fistulas are less than 3 cm in diameter, with no or only mild scarring and do not involve the urethra . The first pre-requisite for successful fistula repair is meticulous attention to detail. As Abbott aptly (if somewhat quaintly) noted [149], "There must be no attempt to operate on these cases with one eye on the clock and the other on the tea wagon". In fact, the operator upon vesicovaginal fistulas should combine traits of daintiness, gentleness, neatness and dexterity of the Pekinese, with the tenacity and perseverance of the English bulldog."

After positioning the patient on the table the surgeon must obtain adequate exposure of the operative field. Figure 11 depicts a typically narrow, scarred vagina of the type that often develops after obstructed labour (Figure 11). For simple cases without scarring, the use of a weighted Auvard speculum should be sufficient. Sometimes an episiotomy is required to increase the exposure. The ureters should then be identified and catheterized. This can usually be done by passing the catheters through the fistula under direct vision (Figure 12). Note that for very small fistulas in the midline or for urethrovaginal fistulas well away from the ureters, this step may not be needed. Once the ureters have been catheterized, the ureteral catheters can be brought out of the bladder through the urethra, keeping them away from the operative field. Although some fistula surgeons leave the catheters in place for up to 14 days after surgery, most can be removed at the end of the operation or a few days afterwards.

Once the fistula is exposed and the ureters protected, the next step is to mobilize the bladder/urethra from their surrounding structures (Figures 13-17). The proximal margins of the fistula are incised and the incision is then extended laterally from the angles either side. Using traction and counter-traction the tissues planes are developed. The distal margins of the fistula are also incised. Two flaps are then developed, again using traction and counter-traction and sutured away to the labia. The fistula edges should now be fully exposed and mobilized. The mobilization should be adequate to be able to bring the margins of the bladder defect together under no tension. Often the angles of the fistula are adherent to the inferior pubic ramus either side. Releasing these attachments close to the bone gains much more mobility (Figure 17). This dissection can extend into the space of Retzius. It is also noted that the majority of the mobilization comes from the proximal dissection, not from the distal dissection and the amount of dissection reflects this. The distal dissection should really be only enough to secure a suture. It is best not to over dissect here and merely create scarring around the urethra.



(SOLFA, used by permission) *Figure 10 : a simple fistula*



Figure 11 : Exposure of the fistula. The illustration to the left shows a vagina that has been narrowed considerably by scarring, thus making the fistula difficult to see. Because adequate exposure of the operative field is the most important criterion for successful surgery, exposure must be improved in such cases. This is done by cutting a generous lateral episiotomy through the scar tissue on either side of the vagina. Although this is unavoidable in some case, the surgeon must remember that such incisions may bleed significantly and increase intraoperative blood loss. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).



Figure 12 : Catheterisation of the ureters. Knowledge of where the ureters are located is extremely important in fistula surgery, as closure of the fistula may inadvertently lead to ureteral injury. Particularly if the fistula is large, the surgeon should look for the location of the ureters in relation to the edges of the fistula. Giving the patient intravenous furosemide or indigo carmine dye, may help locate the ureteral orifices. When the fistula has been closed and the operation is over, the ureteral catheters may simply be removed. There is no benefit to keeping them in longer post-opeartively, unless there are special circumstances. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).



Figure 13 : The initial incision. The initial incision should be made directly along the vesico-vaginal junction on the posterior edge of the fistula (see previous figure). The incision should be extended well out onto the lateral vaginal sidewalls. The purpose of the large incision is to allow wide mobilization of all tissues surrounding the fistula so that the fistula may be closed without any tension on the suture line. Very broad mobilization of tissues is especially important in more complicated fistulas and fistulas with extensive scarring. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).





posteriorly, freeing the vagina from the underlying bladder. The initial opening of the incision is often facilitated using Thorek scissors, which have right-angled blades. Once the initial incision has been opened, the spaces can be widened using the Potts-Smith dissecting scissors. Blunt dissection with a finger to open these tissue planes is to be encouraged. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).



Figure 15 : Anterior extension of the incision around the fistula and into the anterior vagina. Again, the purpose of dissecting the fistula out from the surrounding tissues is to gain mobility so that the fistula can be closed with minimal tension. This involves mobilization of large areas of the vagina. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).



Figure 16 : Creation of anterior vaginal flaps. Once the initial incision around the fistula has been extended anteriorly, the dissection is carried out laterally to separate the vaginal skin from the underlying bladder. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).



Figure 17 : Entering Retzius' space.

Mobility is further increased by penetrating the endopelvic fascia underneath the pubic rami and opening the space of Retzius. This further increases lateral mobility of the bladder and vagina. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission). Once the fistula is adequately mobilized, it is closed. Traditionally, fistula closure was done by closing the bladder in two layers. Many surgeons now closed the bladder in one layer using interrupted dissolvable sutures placed approximately 4 mm apart (Figures 18, 19, 20). The adage for the trainee is that 'a good tension-free closure with adequate good healthy tissue has no reason to fail'.

The repair is then examined to ensure that 'watertight' closure has been achieved by filling the bladder with 60-120 ml of coloured dye (dye test). Occasionally during this test a second fistula previously unknown will be found. If present, this, too, must be closed.

Once the fistula has been closed, the vagina is next repaired. When this has been finished, a vaginal pack is placed, and the urinary catheter is left in situ. The following day, the vaginal pack is removed and the patient is encouraged to mobilize and eat.

The bladder is left on continuous free drainage for 10-14 days. Each day the '3-Ds' of post-operative fistula repair are checked. These are whether the patient is dry, drinking and the catheter is draining. The patient has to be dry; that is the fistula repair must be intact; drinking to ensure adequate irrigation of the bladder; and draining, that is, the catheter is not blocked. If the catheter does become blocked and the bladder fills, the repair is at risk of breaking from



Figure 18 : Placement of supporting stitches. Particularly in cases where the bladder neck and urethra are poorly supported, improved anterior vaginal support can be obtained by placing anchoring sutures into the tissues lateral to the edge of the fistula and then passing such sutures through the periosteum of the pubic arch (as shown in the inset). These sutures help decrease tension along the line of bladder closure. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission



Figure 19 : Initial closure of the fistula. The defect in the bladder is closed using absorbable suture. Many surgeons prefer to close the bladder in two layers, so that the initial closure is reinforced; however, others do not do this. If any tension is encountered during bladder closure, this indicates that the initial dissection of the tissues around the fistula was inadequate and should be revised. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).



Figure 20 : Closure of the fistula, second layer (if needed).A second set of sutures is placed to imbricate the second line of closure over the initial line of closure. This can be done either with interrupted sutures (shown here) or with a continuous running suture. When this line of closure is completed, the fistula should be "water tight." Closure of the fistula can be tested by placing a trans-urethral Foley catheter and then filling the bladder with 100 - 200 mL of either colored water (indigo carmine, methylene blue, Gentian violet) or sterile infant feeding formula to check for the presence of leaks. If any leakage is noted, the repair should be reinforced with additional sutures until no leakage is demonstrated. If such leaks are not easily fixed it is better to take down the entire repair and start over rather than to struggle with repeated attempts to place additional sutures here and there. (Copyright Worldwide Fistula Fund, used by permission).

increasing tension on the repair site. If the catheter does become blocked and the repair ruptures, this may often be rectified by continuous prolonged catheter drainage. By ensuring an empty and relaxed bladder, the sides of the defect may come together and close, but this can take as long as 4 weeks to occur. The success rate is about 70% in such cases, less if the defect involves the urethra.

Following these principles in the repair of simple fistulas, the surgeon can anticipate successful closure in 90% of the patients and a postoperative urethral incontinence rate ("closed but still wet") of 10%.

2. THE COMPLEX FISTULA

A complex obstetric fistula can be described being larger than 3 cm, involving the

- urethra, and associated with reduced vaginal capacity from significant scarring and/or a reduced bladder volume. Sometimes the defect may be urethrovaginal, but more commonly both the urethra and bladder are involved and therefore the fistula is called an urethrovesicovaginal fistula.
- Virtually all authors with extensive experience in the management of obstetric fistulas comment on the great difficulty in achieving postoperative continence in patients who have had extensive damage to the urethra, even if the defect itself has been closed successfully. Rates of postoperative urethral incontinence range between 6-50% (165) [37, 67]. Often the diagnosis of postoperative incontinence is given only if the patient suffers from severe incontinence while walking. If rigorous questioning is used to exclude any leakage with coughing or other exertion, the rate of postoperative incontinence increases dramatically.
- The four risk factors that lead to a high rate of incontinence following fistula repair are:
- Urethral involvement. (Odds Ratio 8.4 for developing urethral incontinence post operatively.)
- Large size of the fistula. (Odds ratio 1.34 for each cm increase in size of the defect.)
- Severe vaginal scarring. (Odds Ratio 2.4 if the scarring is significant enough to prevent the introduction of a Sims speculum without relaxing episiotomies.)
- Small bladder size. (Odds ratio 4.1 if the bladder capacity is less than 120 ml.) [166].
- In repairing complex obstetric fistulas, the principles for simple fistula repair still apply, but with the following additions:
- Exposure is more difficult. In complex cases the fistula may be obscured from view due to the presence of severe vaginal scarring. Such scaring often consists of a thick band of scar tissue on the

posterior vaginal wall. Occasionally, the vagina has been completely occluded. Wide bilateral episiotomies may be required and where possible the scar should be released from the lateral pelvic sidewalls. This will enable the fistula to be seen more clearly.

- The ureters should be identified and protected against possible injury, as in the case of a simple repair.
- The bladder and urethra should again be carefully mobilized. The tissues are often thin, scarred, and fragile in such cases. The mobilization often has to be extended along the lateral pelvic side walls and even on to the posterior aspect of the pubic symphysis in order to free the lateral and anterior bladder.
- The mobilization of tissues should be wide to ensure a tension-free closure.
- The utility of tissue flaps remains controversial.
- Often destruction to the vagina has been so extensive that rotational flaps are required in order to cover the defect [167].

If these principles are applied, the success rate in fistula closure is high, but many women remain incontinent despite successful closure. In patients in whom all of the risk factors mentioned above are present, the postoperative incontinence rate may approach 100% [160]. In light of this dismal success rate, some surgeons now suggest that two further principles of repair be maintained:

Maintain the urethral length. It has been noted that post-repair fistula patients returning for further treatment of persistent urinary incontinence often have a shortened urethra. An unpublished series of 72 patients with post fistula repair incontinence found an average urethral length of 1.4 cm in these women. This suggests that continence might be improved if normal urethral length can be restored at the time of fistula closure. Vertical (as opposed to horizontal) repair of urethrovaginal fistulas has therefore been suggested. This appears to be possible in approximately 20% of such cases. In cases in which there is an urethrovesicovaginal defect, vertical repair of the urethral defect may improve success, while the vesical defect can be repaired either vertically or horizontally.

Support the urethra. For all urethral defects larger than 4 mm with a urethral remnant less than 2.5 cm, many fistula surgeons use an 'anti-incontinence' procedure during the initial repair. Currently there are two widely used procedures. The first sutures the urethra/bladder neck to the periosteum of the pubic ramus in a type of suspension operation. The fascia or muscle of the bladder is sutured on either side of the bladder neck area to the posterior aspect of the symphysis pubis or the arcus tendineus [141]. The

second procedure creates a sling of tissue to support the urethra. A pedicle of tissue is created on either side of the urethra from the lateral pelvic side wall. In theory this involves use of the pubococcygeus muscle, but more often it is simply a pedicle of fibromuscular tissue or scar that can be harvested. The pedicles created on either side are then sutured together in the midline [160, 166].

If either of these two extra steps are used, the incontinence rate after closure of complex fistulas can be reduced from 100% to 50% [160]. If all simple and complex fistulas are treated according to these extra principles, the postoperative incontinence rate can decrease from 33% to 18%.

a) The circumferential fistula

J. Chassar Moir, referred to the worst of obstetric fistula cases as "circumferential" fistula, which "involve a destruction of the bladder neck not only on the vaginal side, but in many instances, on the pubic side as well. The result is a circumferential sloughing with subsequent discontinuity of the urethra and bladder; the intervening tissue is merely the epithelium that has grown over, and become adherent to the periosteum of the back of the pubic bone." [153]. This type of injury seems to occur more frequently in primiparous women, who tend to be younger. Such defects are more likely to be associated with severe vaginal scarring, the presence of a recto-vaginal defect, larger defects, and urethral involvement in 96% of cases [168].

In repairing these injuries, some fistula surgeons ignore the anterior defect in the bladder and merely repair the posterior section by suturing the bladder along the periosteum of the posterior symphysis pubis and then to the urethra. The anterior portion of the urethra will thus be pubic bone. These patients invariably suffer severe post-operative urethral incontinence, and the shorter the urethral remnant is to begin with, the more severe their incontinence is likely to be [169].

According to Moir, the three great problems involved in dealing with this type of fistula are: 1) extremely difficult exposure; 2) technical difficulty in dissecting the tissue remnants from the pubic bone; and 3) difficulty in joining the bladder neck to the urethral remnant or stump, if, indeed, any portion of the urethra is still intact. In order to deal with this type of injury, the bladder must be completely mobilized so that it can be drawn down low enough to create a tension free anastomosis with the urethral remnant. Freeing the urethral remnants and bladder from their adherence to the pubic bone may even require a suprapubic incision with the dissection from above in order to accomplish this. In such cases Moir took care to reinforce the bladder neck with buttressing sutures and generally brought in a Martius graft for support and a renewed blood supply. Today many experienced surgeon perform this operation entirely through the vagina and rarely use the Martius graft, but employ the continence saving steps to the procedure as described previously. The basic principles still apply, but emphasis is placed on completely releasing the bladder from any attachments to the posterior symphysis pubis. Once the bladder has been released, it is drawn down posteriorly to expose the plane of dissection between the bladder and pubic bone.

Once the bladder is mobilized circumferentially it is anastomosed to the urethra anteriorly with sutures at 12, 9 and 3 o'clock around the proximal section of the urethral remnant, usually anchoring it to the periosteum of the posterior pubic symphysis for stability. Often the distal defect in the bladder/urethra is much larger than the proximal defect in the bladder. To perform the anastomosis with this discrepancy in size, the bladder is pulled around the proximal part of the urethra and sutured. The remaining defect in the bladder is repaired vertically, again in an attempt to maintain the length of the urethra. **(Figure 21)**.

The urethra is then suspended or supported with a sling as an anti-incontinence procedure. Despite these measures, post-operative incontinence is still high, with up to 45% of patients still incontinent in the immediate post-operative period [169].

The most difficult injury to repair is when the entire urethra has been sloughed. This may happen in up to 5% of cases [101]. If the urethra is only injured in its posterior aspect, the remaining urethral tissue can be mobilized and repaired vertically over an indwelling catheter with adequate results. More often, however, the whole circumference of the urethra is sloughed. To reconstruct a functional urethra is nearly impossible in such cases.



(by courtesy of A. Browning)

Figure 21 : A circumferential fistula

In cases of complete destruction of the urethra and the anterior bladder neck, Hamlin and Nicholson recommended constructing a new urethra by creating a new "inner" urethra using the skin and fibrous connective tissue covering the pubic bones and the inferior border of the pubic symphysis. The neourethra thus created is then reinforced using a gracilis muscle flap taken from the thigh, preserving its neurovascular pedicle. Once this has been accomplished, additional grafting is necessary using a Martius flap which is then covered with skin flaps. Using this technique, the authors reported no deaths and only one 'complete failure' in 50 operations in which the blood supply to the gracilis flap failed. In some cases small urethrovaginal fistulas remained which were repaired at a subsequent operation. Surprisingly, only 8 women (16%) developed "severe" stress incontinence after this reconstruction, four of whom regained "satisfactory" continence over time, and four of whom required a subsequent operation for stress incontinence. In these latter four patients, only two operations were completely successful. Six patients (12%) developed a urethral stricture, three of whom were successfully treated by the passage of a sound and three of whom required surgical correction. The remaining 35 patients (70%) were discharged within six weeks of surgery cured or with mild residual stress incontinence which did not appear to be clinically bothersome [170]. There is no long-term follow-up on these patients, but anecdotally many patients who have had this procedure have returned for further care years after the operation with incontinence and complete stenosis of the neo-urethra.

Various authors have described neourethral reconstruction using bladder flaps [171, 172]. All of these operations are based upon transabdominal techniques such as that described by Elkins et al. [173]. In this technique, a neo-urethra is created by mobilizing a flap from the anterior bladder, which is then rolled into a tube. The anterior and lateral edges of the fistula are freed up and the space of Retzius is entered transvaginally beneath the pubic bone. The anterior bladder is pulled down into the vagina and mobilised. A 3cm incision is made into the bladder and the anterior bladder wall is then rolled around a 16 Fr. Foley catheter, creating a tube. The anterior surface of the neourethra is then sutured in two layers and the posterior edge of the fistula is closed transversely, also in two layers. The neourethra is reattached to the posterior edge of the pubic symphysis, and a Martius graft is placed before reapproximating the vaginal epithelium. In 18 of 20 cases, this technique resulted in fistula closure, but four women had severe stress incontinence postoperatively. It is not known how many had mild incontinence.

Neither of these surgical methods is ideal. Although they may create an anatomic urethra, often that urethra

does not function normally. A further option in such cases is to create a 'tube' using either technique and then attempt to render the patient continent with the use of a urethral plug [24].

b) Additional advanced surgical techniques

Fistula centres in India tend to have more resources available to them than do fistula centres in Africa. In these situations it may be feasible to use more advanced surgical techniques on patients with fistulas. For example, the fistula centre at the Banaras Hindu University (Varanasi) has a substantial experience in managing more than 600 genito-urinary fistulas over a 15 year period. Fistula is common here: it was the most common diagnosis (40.5%) in female patients admitted for surgery in the past five years, followed by urinary stone disease (25.2%) and malignancy (14.6%). Vesicovaginal fistulas were the most common fistula encountered (66.6%) and vesico-uterine fistulas were the least common (5%) (174). Obstructed labour was the most common aetiology of fistulas (72.2%), followed by hysterectomy. Conservative management was successful in only 1-3% of the patients with vesicovaginal fistulas and the remaining cases were managed surgically with excellent results. A transabdominal approach was used for large, supratrigonal vesicovaginal fistulas, associated ureterovaginal fistulas or if bladder augmentation and bladder neck reconstruction was required. The transvaginal route was preferred for small sub-trigonal fistulas. A combined abdominal and vaginal approach was used for large fistulas involving the trigone or the bladder neck. The surgical approach varied in each patient. Interposition grafts or flaps were used when required [175]. The overall surgical failure rate was 4.3%. The average operative time for layered closure was 72 minutes (45-130 minutes) and that for graft or interposition tissue repair 100 minutes (90-165 minutes). The mean hospital stay was 9 days (6-17 days). There were no reported intra-operative complications. Postoperative complications were urinary tract infection, haematuria, wound infection and fever. None of the patients required blood transfusion. For the repair of small fistulas, surgeons did not use interpositional flaps but rather used the layered closure technique with a success rate of 97.1%. Complicated fistulas required repair by graft or tissue interposition and had a success rate of 94.8% which is similar to the experience of other Indian centres [176]. Risk factors for the failure of vesicovaginal surgery included previous failed repair, large-sized fistulas, fistulas involving the trigone or ureteral orifices, a small bladder capacity and unhealthy vesical urothelium at the time of surgery. Several techniques were used in addition to the standard layered closure:

1. VESICAL AUTOPLASTY: If the longitudinal diameter of the fistula was too large to allow simple layered closure and would put the bladder closure under

tension, a vesical autoplasty was performed based on the advancement flap technique used frequently by plastic surgeons. The initial steps are as in the layered closure technique. The vaginal layer is closed with interrupted 3/0 polygalactin sutures. Two incisions are made from either end of the proximal margin of the bladder defect and are extended proximally and laterally to make a wider based bladder flap. This flap is advanced over the vaginal layer and is sutured as in performing a layered closure. This technique avoids overlapping the suture line and also avoids tension [177].

2. O'CONNOR REPAIR. The majority of the large-sized fistulas were successfully repaired using the transabdominal technique described by O'Connor, with interposition of an omental flap (178). This technique works well except when the fistula extends up to the bladder neck or when its transverse diameter is too large to allow tension-free approximation.

3. ILEAL SEGMENT INTERPOSITION. This technique is used for fistulas which involve the entire posterior bladder wall or fistulas with a wide transverse diameter that extend up to the bladder neck, cases in which obtaining tension-free closure is difficult. Approximately 15-20 cm of the small bowel is isolated on its pedicle and opened at the anti-mesenteric border. The bladder wall is dissected away from the vagina, which is closed with interrupted sutures. This segment of small bowel is interposed posteriorly, along with an omental flap. This technique has yielded satisfactory results in complicated fistulas, and also augments bladder capacity (175, 179)

4. BLADDER MUCOSAL GRAFT: This technique is an alternative to layered closure in cases where closure of the bladder may result in tension along the suture line. If sufficient pliable bladder wall is available, a vesical autoplasty may be performed. In a small-capacity fibrotic bladder, the fistula may be repaired using a free-graft taken from a healthy area in the dome of the bladder, as described by Vyas et al (180). A bladder mucosal graft is also a good alternative in fistulas where the ureteral orifices are close to the fistulous margin and might otherwise require ureteral reimplantation.

5. COMBINED ABDOMINAL AND VAGINAL APPROACH. This technique may be required in complicated fistulas involving the bladder neck. In cases where urethral continuity is disrupted due to a fistula, a combined approach may be preferable. The fistula is repaired by the abdominal route and continuity of the urethra is established by anastomosing the urethra through the vaginal route.

c) Rectovaginal fistula

Rectovaginal fistulas (RVF) are less common than vesicovaginal fistulas in developing countries. In one (unpublished) series of 75 obstetric fistula cases from Ethiopia, only 6.7% were isolated obstetric rectovaginal

fistulas and 84% were associated with significant vaginal scarring. Two of the 75 required a temporary diverting colostomy prior to repair; both were high fistulas adherent to the sacral promontory. This compares to 15% needing a diverting colostomy prior to RVF repair in Addis Ababa [165].

The basic principles of vesico-vaginal fistula repair also apply to the repair of rectovaginal fistulas: wide mobilization of the fistula and a tension-free closure. The vaginal epithelium is incised around the circumference of the fistula and laterally from either angle. The vagina is reflected away and the bowel is mobilized, paying special attention to release of any lateral attachments. Severe bleeding can occur along the lateral aspect of the bowel. The bowel muscularis is repaired in 2 layers preferably in a horizontal plane to avoid creating strictures within the bowel lumen. The vagina is then repaired.

3. URINARY DIVERSION IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD

Urinary diversion in developing countries is usually not a viable option since stoma appliances and catheters (in the case of continent urinary diversions) are often unavailable or are too expensive [79]. In such cases performing a diversion procedure merely moves the fistula to another part of the body and the end result of such surgery may be more stigmatizing in the local culture than the original injury!

Uretero-sigmoidostomy has been used as a surgical option in developing countries for many years. Longterm follow-up of a series of 65 Swiss oncology patients over a 20-year period showed early complications in 25 patients (pyelonephritis, anastomotic complications, wound problems) and late complications in 36 patients (pyelonephritis, electrolyte disturbances, ureteral stenosis, incontinence and colon tumour (3)). At 5 years 25 patients had survived: 23 of these (88%) were continent during daytime and 14 (54%) were continent at night as well [181]. These data show that both short- and long-term complications will arise and that surgeons must be prepared to treat them. This requires access to adequate diagnostic equipment. A series of 9 Tanzanian patients undergoing diversion found that results were acceptable and that patients had a marked improvement in their quality of life [182]. The Mainz II pouch or Sigma-rectum pouch was introduced by Fisch et al. to create a detubularized, low pressure, high capacity pouch that would protect the upper urinary tract and improve continence [183]. This technique has also been used in patients with vesicovaginal fistulas. A series of 62 such patients was reported by Arrowsmith (184), 89% of whom were dry during the day and 68% were also dry during the night. Twenty-six patients had major complications, 35 had minor complications, and 6 patients died. The author does not mention the type of complications that occurred.

Urinary diversion with the creation of a sigmoid or rectal pouch is feasible in selected patients. Longterm data on outcome are not yet available. The risk of complications is rather high and managing complications adequately often requires diagnostic capabilities that are absent in developing countries. This situation requires that patients should be counselled extensively before they are offered this kind of surgery [185]. The risk of cancer has to be discussed as well. These discussions must take current life expectancy into account and balance the risk of complications (such as late occurrence of colon cancers) against any improvement in the quality of life. Current life expectancy in Africa is estimated to be 52.8 years, but such numbers vary substantially from country to country due to differing experiences with AIDS, poverty, malnutrition and war [186]. The decision to proceed with urinary diversion must be made jointly by the patient in consultation with the operating surgeon; it is not the surgeon's choice alone. If a diverting operation is performed, it must be performed in a setting in which adequate post-operative followup is available. It is inappropriate for a visiting surgeon to perform a complicated operation of this kind and to leave the country without insuring that the patient has competent on-going care should complications arise.

4. COMPLICATIONS

a) Urinary incontinence post fistula repair

1. THE CONTINENCE GAP AND URETHRAL LOSS

Fistulas can be closed successfully in 72% to 92% of cases [187]. The definition of success, however, is often different when the perspectives of the patient and the surgeon are compared. "Success" to a fistula patient means complete restoration of urinary continence and control, whereas many surgeons define "success" as simply closing the fistula. It is essential to establish defined criteria that will allow meaningful comparison of treatment outcomes. The patient-oriented criterion of continence restoration should be the goal when the outcomes of various fistula treatments are compared. Persistent incontinence despite successful closure of the fistula has been termed "the continence gap" [188]. A patient whose fistula is closed but who remains incontinent may be just as wet as a patient whose fistula closure operation failed. The estimates of persistent urinary incontinence after a successful closure of the fistula come from case series, ranging from 16.3% in a large retrospective review of patients by Wall et al [29] to 33% in a small series of complex fistulas in which the proximal urethra was lost [189]. Adequate epidemiologic studies on the prevalence of fistula and its sequelae are scarce, and because long-term data on surgical outcomes are difficult to obtain, the prevalence of persistent incontinence after surgery appears to be severely underestimated. Techniques that are used

in reconstructive urology in industrialized countries are seldom mentioned in the fistula literature [59, 190]. More research and training is needed in this field.

Persistent urinary incontinence in patients after fistula repair is due to multiple factors including scarring and location of the fistula as well as failure to perform a sling operation at the time of repair in patients likely to require such intervention. The goal of fistula surgery should be restoration of continence and resumption of a full and active life on the part of the patient, not just closing the fistula.

2. PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF PERSISTENT URINARY INCONTI-NENCE AFTER FISTULA REPAIR

Several possible etiological factors can be postulated in women who remain incontinent after successful fistula closure: massive damage to the mid-urethral continence mechanism, damage to the bladder neck, levator ani dysfunction, damage to the lateral attachments of the urethra, fibrosis and loss of compliance, neuropathy, etc. . . .

Although persistent incontinence tends to be blamed on urethral dysfunction, a few urodynamic studies suggest that bladder dysfunction may play a role as well [67, 191]. A small study of 22 women who underwent urodynamic studies to analyze post-repair incontinence revealed that 41% suffered from urodynamic stress incontinence, 41% had combined urodynamic stress incontinence and detrusor overactivity, 14% had a small non-compliant bladder, and 4% had a voiding disorder and overflow incontinence. In these cases the incontinence may be so severe that the urethra functions only as an open 'drain pipe' through which urine passes in a nearlycontinuous stream. The result is little different from the leakage that occurred through the original fistula [67].

3. ASSESSMENT OF URINARY INCONTINENCE

A complaint of persistent leakage by the patient needs to be evaluated. The first step is to assure that the fistula has been closed successfully. This can be done by placing a balloon catheter into the bladder, occluding the bladder neck, and filling the bladder with a solution of water coloured with indigo carmine or another type of dye. If the fistula has not been closed successfully, the leakage should be readily apparent. If deflating the balloon or moving it away from the bladder neck produces incontinence, the question may be differentiating transurethral incontinence from a urethra-vaginal fistula. Where more advanced technological capabilities are available, diagnosing the presence of an urethrovaginal fistula may be facilitated by the use of a double-balloon catheter that allows occlusion of the urethra at each end and perfusion of the urethra through an opening between the two balloons. Most commonly, however, the diagnosis will have to be made on the basis of simple clinical testing by occluding the urethral meatus, asking the patient to strain, and seeing if there is leakage. Limited data from urodynamic studies by Hilton [191] and by Carey, Goh et al [67] suggest that detrusor overactivity and changes in bladder compliance are frequent causes of urinary incontinence is fistula patients with post-repair incontinence, in addition to the leakage resulting from successful closure but persistent intrinsic sphincter deficiency.

4. MANAGEMENT OF URINARY INCONTINENCE

1) Preventive management.

Assessment of host factors causing urinary incontinence following fistula repair:

The best approach to this problem is preventive and this starts with the assessment of host factors. The most important concept is the recognition of the differences between simple and complex fistulas.

Surgical techniques at the time of primary fistula repair to prevent urinary incontinence:

When the fistula involves the continence mechanism and is associated with moderate to severe scarring of the urethrovesical junction, a sling procedure may be advisable to improve urethral closure. Several techniques have been used, including a sling or graft made of labial fat incorporating the bulbocavernosus muscle, remnants of the pubococcygeus muscle, or a gracilis muscle flap [160, 189], as well as fascial grafting. The results obtained with this relatively simple low-cost operative procedure have not been replicated in other centres, nor are there long-term data on outcomes

2) Initial management of urinary incontinence after fistula repair.

Pelvic floor muscle exercises have been proposed as a first step in the treatment of persistent incontinence after otherwise successful fistula closure. Some patients on a muscle exercise regimen improve after six months of therapy. A novel system for grading urinary incontinence has been proposed in an effort to predict which patients are likely to benefit from this type of therapy and which will not. This system is currently in use in only a handful of centres and prospective data are not yet available as to its general applicability.

Continence status after fistula closure can be graded as follows:

- 1. Cured, no incontinence leaks
- 2. Wet with exertion (coughing or physical exertion)
- 3. Wet when walking, but dry when sitting or lying down
- 4. Wet when walking, sitting, or lying down, but able to void some urine from the bladder
- 5. Wet all the time, no urine to void

After six months of physical therapy, in 50% of cases women with continence grades 2 or 3 were cured of their leakage, but only 18% of women with continence grades 4 or 5 were cured. Women in this latter group therefore seem likely to require further surgical treatment.

3) Secondary management for urinary incontinence after fistula repair.

If a patient with transurethral incontinence is still complaining of the leakage at follow-up, the treatment proposed must be cheap, effective and not dependent on expensive synthetic materials that are unlikely to be available in countries where obstetric fistulas are prevalent. Treating persistent incontinence after successful fistula closure requires good surgical skills. Some kind of bladder evaluation is essential prior to considering urethral support surgery. The type of repair proposed is based largely on analogies with other urethral operations such as those carried out to repair a urethral diverticulum, to attempt to achieve continence after radiation therapy, or the kinds of reconstructive operations carried out in patients who have extrophy or epispadias [79]. In these cases the use of tissue transposition techniques such as the Martius graft and various forms of sling operations are the mainstays of treatment. The traditional dissection required to place a sling may be difficult and may result in recurrence of the fistula and/or breakdown of the entire urethra. Thus, some authors have recommended using an in situ vaginal sling. Fascial slings are preferred; there is no place for a synthetic sling in these cases due to the levels of scarring found, the lack of vascularity in the surgical field, the high likelihood of infection, and the problems of sling erosion with little or no access to follow-up.

Several surgical methods have been described for treating fistula patients with post-closure stress incontinence; few have been successful and data are quite limited. A standard Burch-type retropubic bladder neck suspension operation combined with urethrolysis and tissue plication, may work in a few patients [141], but in general the results of this approach have been disappointing. Carey and co-workers reported a small series of patients who had undergone previous fistula closure and who later underwent re-operation for stress incontinence. After urodynamic testing, 9 women with severe urodynamic stress incontinence underwent a retropubic urethrolysis and pubovaginal sling procedure combined with placement of an omental Jflap. Four weeks after surgery, 78% were continent; however this fell to 67% at 14 months follow-up [67]. An operation described by Waaldijk involves urethralisation of the bladder neck as a neourethra in patients with a markedly shortened bladder neck. Following this, a fasciocolposuspension to the arcus tendineus is performed. Cure rates of 60-70% have been reported, but these results have not been replicated in other fistula centres [141].

An alternative approach for those patients who fail a surgical procedure or who are deemed unsuitable for an attempt at surgical repair is to use a urethral plug [24]. Although successful use of urethral plugs and various injectable materials has been reported, these technologies are not usually available in areas where obstetric fistulas are common. However, if an ongoing supply link can be arranged, urethral plugs seem to work well for many women with a high degree of patient satisfaction.

Urge-related bladder dysfunction can often be treated with low-cost antimuscarinic drugs. In cases where there has been extensive loss of bladder tissue or marked reduction in bladder compliance due to fibrosis, augmentation cystoplasty can be performed, usually using by interposing a segment of bowel. In some case, urinary diversion may be indicated, but only after careful discussion of the issues involved with the patient.

CONCLUSION

The vast majority of obstetric fistulas can be successfully closed using appropriate "low technology" surgical techniques.; however, making these women completely continent and restoring their lives to normal functioning is the ultimate, but more difficult to achieve, goal. Persistent incontinence after fistula repair remains an underappreciated condition that requires further attention if overall outcomes are to be improved. There is a need for further research using clearlydefined outcomes and standardized data collection in this area.

VII. ORGANISATION OF FISTULA CARE IN THE DEVELOPING WORLD

1. LOCAL HOSPITAL OR A SPECIALIST FISTULA CENTER?

At the present time the care of fistula patients is not well-structured. Fistula centres are not networked with one another and most places where fistula surgery is performed carry out their work without much reference to the activities of other centres. Most fistula care is provided by individuals working alone, and by various charities and non-governmental organizations who largely "march to the sound of their own drums." Funding for fistula initiatives is haphazard and frequently insecure. Around the world, the voices of women with fistulas are still not heard by most of the national healthcare systems that should be responsible for providing care to them. Wall has suggested that a fistula centre can survive and flourish only if three prerequisites are in place [192]. A fistula centre must have:

a) Adequate long-term funding

This funding usually must come from foreign donors, as local authorities often do not consider the care of fistula patients to be an important priority. Because fistula patients are largely destitute, they can rarely pay for the costs of care. This means that fistula surgery must be heavily subsidized in order to reach the maximum number of patients and this may breed resentment in hospitals where other patients are routinely charged for their care.

b) A dedicated fistula surgeon

A surgical program will only succeed if it is staffed by competent, responsible surgeons. Ideally the surgeon in charge of a fistula repair program should be someone who can treat both simple and complex fistulas, as well as with the complications of surgery (e.g., vaginal stenosis, persistent incontinence, etc). Surgeons must understand both their own limitations as well as the limitations placed on them by the environment in which they must operate. Maintenance of skills and improvements in data collection and research are likely to be improved by enabling the formation of networks of fistula surgeons who face similar problems in different parts of the world.

c) Adequate operating theatre time and adequate supplies

Surgical programs can only be successful if there is adequate time and adequate supplies to perform the necessary operations. General hospitals (especially rural hospitals) tasked with taking care of the entire range of medical and surgical problems—particularly obstetric emergencies and acute trauma— often lack the resources need to carry out large numbers of fistula repairs. Elective scheduled cases such as fistula repair are always in jeopardy of being bumped from the operating theatre schedule due to the arrival of victims of a road traffic accident, orthopaedic trauma or obstetric haemorrhage.

For these reasons many advocate that fistula programs be organized around a specialized fistula centre that focuses on these patients as its highest priority. Such a centre is optimized to deliver high quality specialized care for these women. Focused programs of this kind will be more difficult to operate in regions where transportation is difficult, making it difficult for people from remote areas to reach the centre.

It is also obvious that the small number of specialist centres that currently exist in Africa will never be able to treat all of the women currently living with fistulas. Whatever strategy is proposed, it must be based on a realistic assessment of local circumstances [193] [194]. Further research in this area is recommended.

Wherever possible, fistula care should be integrated into a broader preventive perinatal care program. A recent systematic review of inequalities in maternal health care in 23 developing countries showed a wide variation in the use of antenatal care [195]. In addition to factors related to the availability of health care services (distances travelled, clinic availability), userrelated factors such as patient age, education, medical insurance, and clinical risk factors played a role in determining utilization. The interactions among these factors are also influenced by funding, organisation, the structure of the local social system, and local cultural variations. The authors concluded that contextspecific causes of variations in the use of maternal health care services needs further investigation.

One over-arching concern must be the standard of care provided in such programs: Poor quality antenatal care will almost certainly decrease the utilization of the services provided [196]. How fistula care should be organized must be seen within this larger context (Figure 22).

2. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

There are many ethical issues intertwined with the epidemic of obstetric fistulas in developing countries. These issues range from the broadest human rights concerns arising from a devastating problem that only afflicts women to the most intimate issues involved in the responsibilities of individual surgeons for the care of individual patients to complex issues regarding clinical research. Everyone involved in caring for women with obstetric fistulas must realize the vulnerable nature of this patient population and the special needs they present for those entrusted with their care. Recently a code of ethics for the fistula surgeon was published with the aim of fostering common goals and a common ethical perspective as to how the campaign to eradicate fistulas ought to proceed [197]. This code of ethics emphasizes the following basic points: [197].

- The fistula surgeon should be dedicated above all else to providing the best possible care for women with obstetric fistulas permitted by the resources available and the local circumstances in which care is rendered.
- The surgeon must recognize the vulnerable nature of this population of patients, treat them with respect, and involve them in decision-making regarding important aspects of their care. Such patients should not be subjected to experimentation without their consent and research on fistula patients should be overseen by an appropriate ethical review board.
- The fistula surgeon must assume direct personal responsibility for the care of those patients on whom he or she operates and must provide them with access to competent ongoing care, particularly in the immediate post-operative period.
- The fistula surgeon should limit his or her practice to that which he or she is competent to deliver by education, training, experience, and available resources, and should not hesitate to refer complicated patients to a higher level of care.



Figure 22 : The organisation of a fistula centre

- The fistula surgeon should strive to improve his or her clinical skills through the regular collection and review of objective data on treatment outcomes.
- The fistula surgeon should never take advantage of a patient for his or her own personal benefit or allow such patients to be abused by others.
- Fistula surgeons must acknowledge the fundamental social inequalities that promote the development of obstetric fistulas and must help work to eradicate these injustices. They should actively support initiatives that seek to prevent fistulas and should work to remove barriers that hinder access to emergency obstetric care.

VIII. SUMMARY AND GOALS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The number of patients with obstetric fistulas in Africa cannot be estimated accurately at this time, but all authors agree that the number is high and that several million women may be affected by this terrible condition. Lack of adequate facilities for fistula repair prevents reduction of the backlog of women currently suffering with fistulas. Lack of adequate access to emergency obstetric services prevents the elimination of new fistula cases.

There is much that still needs to be learned about the optimal care for women with obstetric fistula. There is a great need for further research on both the best treatment of fistulas as well as on the types of programs that will be most effective in preventing fistulas from developing in the first place. There is almost no reliable data on how to develop and implement programs to rehabilitate women who have sustained a fistula and how to reintegrate them into their societies.

Repair of simple fistulas has a high success rate if the operation is performed by a trained surgeon. In cases of this kind, use of a Martius flap may not be required.

Complex fistulas remain challenging, sometimes daunting. A high proportion of women with complex fistulas will have persistent incontinence despite successful fistula closure. The number of women who will suffer from stress incontinence after successful fistula closure can probably be reduced by performing some type of autologous sling operation at the time of fistula repair. Exact protocols for doing this need to be developed.

In addition to their fistula, many patients also suffer from other components of the obstructed labour injury complex involving urological, gynaecological, gastrointestinal, musculoskeletal, psychological and social injuries. These comorbidities must also be taken into account during treatment planning.

The literature on fistulas in the developing world consists primarily of retrospective observational studies. Many fistula surgeons work for charitable organisations whose ultimate goal is the care of patients. Many surgeons are involved in fistula surgery only during short-term trips and leave without having any good idea about patient follow-up or the outcome of surgery. The organization of research in this field is therefore often complicated.

The development of partnerships between charitable organizations and academic institutions could help alleviate this problem. Joint programs between Western academic centres and local African hospitals would not only have a positive influence on the training and scientific expertise of the local staff, but would also be likely to improve the standard of care provided to patients. Several areas for future research can be suggested:

- Health economic studies
- Health organisation studies
- Studies on techniques for fistula closure and related surgical issues
- Urodynamic studies of patients following successful fistula closure
- Studies on long-term outcome, social reintegration, and the effect of fistulas on family life and child health

IX. RECOMMENDATIONS

All recommendations are based on articles with level of evidence 3 or 4. Hence all recommendations have grade C.

- Patients with vesicovaginal fistula should be treated as a person, and they deserve the right to adequate counselling and consent to the treatment they will eventually undergo, despite language and cultural barriers that may exist.
- Surgeons embarking on fistula surgery in the developing world should have appropriate training in that setting and should be willing to take a long-term commitment.
- Prevention of fistula is the ultimate goal. Collaboration between fistula initiatives and maternal health initiatives must be stimulated.

ASSESSMENT

- It is important to make a distinction between simple fistula, which have a good prognosis and complex fistula, which have a less favourable outcome.
- Careful clinical examination will allow the distinction between both types of fistula, although no generally accepted classification system is available. Key items are the size and location of the fistula, the eventual involvement of the urethra and the urethral closure mechanism and the amount of vaginal scarring.
- Associated pathologies should be actively searched for and should be taken into account in the treatment plan: all components of the 'obstructed labour injury complex' should examined.

TREATMENT

 The treatment for vesicovaginal fistula is surgical.

SIMPLE FISTULA

- A vaginal approach is preferred, since most simple fistula can be reached vaginally and since spinal anaesthesia carries less risk than general anaesthesia needed for an abdominal approach necessitating. A trained surgeon should be able to manage these simple fistulas.
- After wide dissection a tension-free single layer closure of the bladder wall and closure of the vaginal wall in a separate layer are advocated. A Martius flap in primary simple obstetric fistula repair is not recommended.
- A care program for failed repairs and for persisting incontinence after a successful repair needs to be installed.

COMPLEX FISTULA

- Complex fistula should be referred to a fistula expert in a fistula centre.
- In principle most complex fistula can be dealt with by vaginal approach, but an abdominal approach can be useful in some cases (e.g. concomitant reconstructive procedures). Advanced training and surgical skills are prerequisites for treating this type of fistula.
- If the urethra and/or the urethral closure mechanism is involved a sling procedure, using an autologous sling, should be performed at the same time as the fistula correction. There is no place for synthetic sling material in that setting.

AFTER CARE

 The majority of patients with as simple fistula will be cured after the repair. A proportion of them and an even larger proportion of the patients after complex fistula repair will remain incontinent. Depending on the local possibilities an after-care program should be installed.

REFERENCES

- Wall L, Arrowsmith S, Briggs ND, Browing A, Lassey A. The obstetric vesicovaginal Fistula in the developing world. In: P A, L C, S K, A W, editors. Incontinence. Paris: Health Publications; 2005. p. 1403-54.
- Donnay F, Ramsey K. Eliminating obstetric fistula: progress in partnerships. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006 Sep;94(3):254-61.
- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Briggs ND, Browning A, Lassey A. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 2005 Jul;60(7 Suppl 1):S3-S51.
- Maternal mortality in 2005: estimates developed by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA and the World Bank. WHO, editor. Geneva: WHO; 2007.
- AbouZahr C. Prolonged labour and obstetric. In Murray C, Lopez A, eds The health dimensions of sex and reproduction: the global burden of sexually transmitted diseases and HIV, maternal conditions, perinatal disorders and congenital anomalies. Boston: Harvard University Press; 1998. p. 242-6.
- Harrison KA. Child-bearing, health and social priorities: a survey of 22 774 consecutive hospital births in Zaria, Northern Nigeria. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1985 Oct;92 Suppl 5:1-119.
- Velez A, Ramsey K, Tell K. The Campaign to End Fistula: what have we learned? Findings of facility and community needs assessments. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S143-50.
- Ronsmans C, Holtz S, Stanton C. Socioeconomic differentials in caesarean rates in developing countries: a retrospective analysis. Lancet. 2006 Oct 28;368(9546):1516-23.
- Buekens P, Curtis S, Alayon S. Demographic and Health Surveys: caesarean section rates in sub-Saharan Africa. Bmj. 2003 Jan 18;326(7381):136.
- 10. Thaddeus S, Maine D. Too far to walk: maternal mortality in context. Soc Sci Med. 1994 Apr;38(8):1091-110.
- Sundari TK. The untold story: how the health care systems in developing countries contribute to maternal mortality. Int J Health Serv. 1992;22(3):513-28.
- McCarthy J, Maine D. A framework for analyzing the determinants of maternal mortality. Stud Fam Plann. 1992 Jan-Feb;23(1):23-33.
- Meirow D, Moriel EZ, Zilberman M, Farkas A. Evaluation and treatment of iatrogenic ureteral injuries during obstetric and gynecologic operations for nonmalignant conditions. J Am Coll Surg. 1994 Feb;178(2):144-8.
- Onuora VC, al Ariyan R, Koko AH, Abdelwahab AS, al Jawini N. Major injuries to the urinary tract in association with childbirth. East Afr Med J. 1997 Aug;74(8):523-6.
- Raghavaiah NV, Devi Al. Bladder injury associated with rupture of the uterus. Obstet Gynecol. 1975 Nov;46(5):573-6.
- Rao KB. Urinary fistulae following hysterectomy. Int Surg. 1967 May;47(5):450-4.

- Yeong CT, Lim TL, Tan KH. Ureteral injuries in an obstetric and gynaecology teaching hospital. Med J Malaysia. 1998 Mar;53(1):51-8.
- Kambou T, Zango B, Dao B, Alamé Y, Quattara T. Fistule jéjuno-utéro-vaginale après accouchement par forceps. Lyon Chirurgie. 1997;9315:290-2.
- Kruk ME, Pereira C, Vaz F, Bergstrom S, Galea S. Economic evaluation of surgically trained assistant medical officers in performing major obstetric surgery in Mozambique. Bjog. 2007 Oct;114(10):1253-60.
- Cumbi A, Pereira C, Malalane R, Vaz F, McCord C, Bacci A, et al. Major surgery delegation to mid-level health practitioners in Mozambique: health professionals' perceptions. Hum Resour Health. 2007;5:27.
- Vaz F, Bergstrom S, Vaz Mda L, Langa J, Bugalho A. Training medical assistants for surgery. Bull World Health Organ. 1999;77(8):688-91.
- Pereira C, Bugalho A, Bergstrom S, Vaz F, Cotiro M. A comparative study of caesarean deliveries by assistant medical officers and obstetricians in Mozambique. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1996 Jun;103(6):508-12.
- Udoma EJ, Umoh MS, Udosen EO. Recto-vaginal fistula following coitus: an aftermath of vaginal douching with aluminium potassium sulphate dodecahydrate (potassium alum). International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 1999;66:299-300.
- Goh JT, Browning A. Use of urethral plugs for urinary incontinence following fistula repair. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2005 Jun;45(3):237-8.
- Kalume MA. La violence à l'est de la RDC en période de conflit: particularités et conséquences médicales. Congo Medical Journal. 2004;8(13):1176-82.
- Manga O, Choma N, Kawaya Y. Distribution cartographique de la violence sexuelle dans la Province de Maniema, une calamité dans un avenir proche. Congo Medical Journal. 2004;8(1):1451-4.
- Muleta M, Williams G. Postcoital injuries treated at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital, 1991-97. Lancet. 1999 Dec 11;354(9195):2051-2.
- Nduati RW, Muita JW. Sexual abuse of children as seen at Kenyatta National Hospital. East Afr Med J. 1992 Jul;69(7):350-4.
- Wall LL, Karshima JA, Kirschner C, Arrowsmith SD. The obstetric vesicovaginal fistula: characteristics of 899 patients from Jos, Nigeria. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004 Apr;190(4):1011-9.
- Tahzib F. Vesicovaginal fistula in Nigerian children. Lancet. 1985 Dec 7;2(8467):1291-3.
- Tahzib F. Epidemiological determinants of vesicovaginal fistulas. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1983 May;90(5):387-91.
- Banks E, Meirik O, Farley T, Akande O, Bathija H, Ali M. Female genital mutilation and obstetric outcome: WHO collaborative prospective study in six African countries. Lancet. 2006 Jun 3;367(9525):1835-41.
- Essen B, Sjoberg NO, Gudmundsson S, Ostergren PO, Lindqvist PG. No association between female circumcision and prolonged labour: a case control study of immigrant women giving birth in Sweden. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2005 Aug 1;121(2):182-5.
- Stanton C, Holtz SA, Ahmed S. Challenges in measuring obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S4-9.
- Creanga AA, Genadry RR. Obstetric fistulas: a clinical review. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S40-6.
- de Bernis L. Obstetric fistula: guiding principles for clinical management and programme development, a new WHO guideline. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S117-21.

- Murray C, Goh JT, Fynes M, Carey MP. Urinary and faecal incontinence following delayed primary repair of obstetric genital fistula. Bjog. 2002 Jul;109(7):828-32.
- Maulet N. La dimension de continum dans la prise en charge des fistules obstétricales. Revue de la littérature [Mémoire de DEA]. Bruxelles: Université Libre de Bruxelles; 2007.
- Muleta M, Fantahun M, Tafesse B, Hamlin EC, Kennedy RC. Obstetric fistula in rural Ethiopia. East Afr Med J. 2007 Nov;84(11):525-33.
- Vangeenderhuysen C, Prual A, Ould el Joud D. Obstetric fistulae: incidence estimates for sub-Saharan Africa. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2001 Apr;73(1):65-6.
- Johnson K. Incontinence in Malawi: analysis of a proxy measure of vaginal fistula in a national survey. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S122-9.
- Danso KA, Opare-Addo HS, Turpin CA. Obstetric fistula admissions at Komfo Anokye Teaching Hospital, Kumasi, Ghana. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S69-70.
- Mohammad RH. A community program for women's health and development: implications for the long-term care of women with fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S137-42.
- Zango B, Kambou T, Sanon JA, Quattara T, Sanou A. Les fistules urogénitales: à propos de 50 cas au CHNSS de Bobo-Dioulasso. Science et Technique, Science de santé (CNRST). 2001;24:63-70.
- Sanda G, Nafiou I, Moukaila A. La fistule urogénitale au Niger: aspects épidémiologiques et conséquences. African Journal of Urology. 2001;7:103-8.
- Harouna YD, Seibou A, Maikano S. La fistule vesico-vaginale de cause obstetricale: enquête auprès de 52 femmes admises au village des fistuleuses. Médicine d'Afrique Noire. 2001;48.
- QI LI YA, Ouattara Z, Ouattara K. Traitement des fistules vésico-vaginales à l'hôpital de Kati. A propos de 34 cas. Médecine d'Afrique Noire. 2000;47.
- Ojanuga Onolemhemhen D, Ekwempu CC. An investigation of sociomedical risk factors associated with vaginal fistula in northern Nigeria. Women Health. 1999;28(3):103-16.
- Hilton P, Ward A. Epidemiological and surgical aspects of urogenital fistulae: a review of 25 years' experience in southeast Nigeria. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1998;9(4):189-94.
- Danso KA, Martey JO, Wall LL, Elkins TE. The epidemiology of genitourinary fistulae in Kumasi, Ghana, 1977-1992. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1996;7(3):117-20.
- Kelly J. Ethiopia: an epidemiological study of vesico-vaginal fistula in Addis Ababa. World Health Stat Q. 1995;48(1):15-7.
- Rijken Y, Chilopora GC. Urogenital and recto-vaginal fistulas in southern Malawi: a report on 407 patients. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S85-9.
- Nafiou I, Idrissa A, Ghaichatou AK, Roenneburg ML, Wheeless CR, Genadry RR. Obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulas at the National Hospital of Niamey, Niger. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S71-4.
- Melah GS, Massa AA, Yahaya UR, Bukar M, Kizaya DD, El-Nafaty AU. Risk factors for obstetric fistulae in north-eastern Nigeria. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2007 Nov;27(8):819-23.
- Browning A, Fentahun W, Goh JT. The impact of surgical treatment on the mental health of women with obstetric fistula. Bjog. 2007 Nov;114(11):1439-41.
- Goh JT, Sloane KM, Krause HG, Browning A, Akhter S. Mental health screening in women with genital tract fistulae. Bjog. 2005 Sep;112(9):1328-30.

- Islam AI, Begum A. A psycho-social study on genito-urinary fistula. Bangladesh Med Res Counc Bull. 1992 Dec;18(2):82-94.
- Muleta M. Socio-demographic profile and obstetric experience of fistula patients managed at the Addis Ababa Fistula Hospital. Ethiop Med J. 2004 Jan;42(1):9-16.
- Sombie I, Kambou T, Conombo SG, Sankara O, Ouedraogo L, Zoungrana T, et al. [Retrospective study of urogenital fistula in Burkina Faso from 2001 to 2003]. Med Trop (Mars). 2007 Feb;67(1):48-52.
- Wall LL. Fitsari 'dan Duniya. An African (Hausa) praise song about vesicovaginal fistulas. Obstet Gynecol. 2002 Dec;100(6):1328-32.
- Murphy M. Social consequences of vesico-vaginal fistula in northern Nigeria. J Biosoc Sci. 1981 Apr;13(2):139-50.
- Ahmed S, Holtz SA. Social and economic consequences of obstetric fistula: life changed forever? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S10-5.
- Browning A, Menber B. Obstetric fistula patients in Ethiopia: a 6 months follow-up after surgical treatment. BJOG. 2008;accepted for publication.
- 64. Verbeylen W. SOLFA fonds neemt het op voor Afrikaanse vrouwen. Campuskrant KU Leuven. 2007.
- Arrowsmith SD, Hamlin EC, Wall LL. Obstructed labor injury complex: obstetric fistula formation and the multifaceted morbidity of maternal birth trauma in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1996 Sep;51(9):568-74.
- Schleicher DJ, Ojengbede OHA. Urologic evaluation after closure of vesicovaginal fistulas. International Urogynecology Journal 1993;4:262-5.
- Carey MP, Goh JT, Fynes MM, Murray CJ. Stress urinary incontinence after delayed primary closure of genitourinary fistula: a technique for surgical management. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2002 May;186(5):948-53.
- Pang MW, Lok H, Tsui HY, Wong WS, Yip SK. An unusual case of a vesicovaginal stone. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2002;54(1):56-7.
- Dalela D, Goel A. Vesical calculi with unrepaired vesicovaginal fistula: A clinical appraisal of an uncommon association. Journal of Urology. 2003;170:2206-8
- Goh JT, Browing A, Berhan B, Chang A. Predicting the risk of failure of closure of obstetric fistula and residual urinary incontinence using a classification system. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2008;accepted for publication.
- 71. Mahfouz N. Urinary fistulae in women. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of the British Empire. 1930;37:566-76.
- Ward A. Genito-urinary fistulae: A report on 1,789 cases. . Lagos, Nigeria: Second International Congress on Obstetrics and Gynecology; 1980 Contract No.: Document Number|.
- Waaldijk K. Surgical classification of obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1995 May;49(2):161-3.
- Langundoye SB, Bell D. Urinary tract changes in obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae: A report of 216 cases studied by intravenous urography. Clinical Radiology. 1976;27:531-9.
- Adetiloye VA, Dare FO. Obstetric fistula: evaluation with ultrasonography. J Ultrasound Med. 2000 Apr;19(4):243-9.
- Dick JS, Strover RM. Vaginoplasty following vesicovaginal fistula repair: a preliminary report. S Afr Med J. 1971 Jun 5;45(22):617-20.
- Hoskins WJ, Park RC, Long R, Artman LE, McMahon EB. Repair of urinary tract fistulas with bulbocavernosus myocutaneous flaps. Obstet Gynecol. 1984 Apr;63(4):588-93.
- Margolis T, Elkins TE, Seffah J, Oparo-Addo HS, Fort D. Full-thickness Martius grafts to preserve vaginal depth as an

adjunct in the repair of large obstetric fistulas. Obstet Gynecol. 1994 Jul;84(1):148-52.

- Gutman RE, Dodson JL, Mostwin JL. Complications of treatment of obstetric fistula in the developing world: gynatresia, urinary incontinence, and urinary diversion. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S57-64.
- Kelly J, Kwast BE. Obstetric vesicovaginal fistulas: Evaluation of failed repairs. International Urogynecology Journal. 1993;4:271-3.
- Ekele BA, Audu LR, Muyibi S. Uterine rupture in Sokoto, Northern Nigeria—are we winning? Afr J Med Med Sci. 2000 Sep-Dec;29(3-4):191-3.
- Yip SK, Leung TY. Vesicouterine fistula: an updated review. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1998;9(5):252-6.
- Billmeyer BR, Nygaard IE, Kreder KJ. Ureterouterine and vesicoureterovaginal fistulas as a complication of cesarean section. J Urol. 2001 Apr;165(4):1212-3.
- Porcario AB, Zicari M. Vesicouterine fistulas following cesarean section: Report on a case, review and update of the literature. International Urology and Nephrology. 2002;34:335-44.
- Youssef AF. Menouria following lower segment cesarean section; a syndrome. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1957 Apr;73(4):759-67.
- Arrowsmith S, Hamlin EC, Wall LL. Obstructed labor injury complex: obstetric fistula formation and the multifaceted morbidity of maternal birth trauma in the developing world. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1996 Sep;51(9):568-74.
- Jozwik M. Clinical classification of vesicouterine fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2000 Sep;70(3):353-7.
- Aimakhu VE. Reproductive functions after the repair of obstetric vesicovaginal fistulae. Fertil Steril. 1974 Jul;25(7):586-91.
- Bieler EU, Schnabel T. Pituitary and ovarian function in women with vesicovaginal fistuale after obstructed and prolonged labour. S Afr Med J. 1976 Feb 21;50(8):257-66.
- Evoh NJ, Akinla O. Reproductive performance after the repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae. Ann Clin Res. 1978 Dec;10(6):303-6.
- Naidu PM, Krishna S. Vesico-vaginal fistulae and certain obstetric problems arising subsequent to repair. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1963 Jun;70:473-5.
- Emembolu J. The obstetric fistula: factors associated with improved pregnancy outcome after a successful repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1992 Nov;39(3):205-12.
- Emmet TA. Vesico-vaginal fistula from partutition and other causes: with cases of recto-vaginal fistula. New York: William Wood; 1868.
- Naidu PM. Vesico-vaginal fistulae. An experience with 208 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1962 Apr;69:311-6.
- 95. Aziz SA. Urinary fistulae from obstetrical trauma. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1965 Oct;72(5):765-8.
- Coetzee T, Lithgow DM. Obstetric fistulae of the urinary tract. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1966 Oct;73(5):837-44.
- Bird GC. Obstetric vesico-vaginal and allied fistulae. A report on 70 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1967 Oct;74(5):749-52.
- Mustafa AZ, Rushwan HM. Acquired genito-urinary fistulae in the Sudan. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1971 Nov;78(11):1039-43.
- Ashworth FL. Urinary vaginal fistulae: A series of 152 patients treated in a small hospital in Ghana. West Afr Med J Niger Med Dent Pract. 1973 Apr;22(2):39-43.
- 100. Waaldijk K. The (surgical) management of bladder fistula

in 775 women in northern Nigeria [Doctoral]. Utrecht, Netherlands: Utrecht; 1989.

- Arrowsmith SD. Genitourinary reconstruction in obstetric fistulas. J Urol. 1994 Aug;152(2 Pt 1):403-6.
- 102. Amr MF. Vesico-vaginal fistula in Jordan. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998 Oct;80(2):201-3.
- Yenen E, Babuna C. Genital Fistula: a Study Based on 197 Consecutive Cases. Obstet Gynecol. 1965 Aug;26:219-24.
- 104. Radman MS, Al-Suleiman SA. Surgical treatment of rectovaginal fistula of obstetric origin. A review of 15 years' experience in a teaching hospital. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2003;23(6):607-10.
- Vix VA, Ryu CY. The adult symphysis pubis: normal and abnormal. Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nucl Med. 1971 Jul;112(3):517-25.
- Cockshott WP. Pubic changes associated with obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulae. Clinical Radiology. 1973;24:241-7.
- Waaldijk K, Elkins TE. The obstetric fistula and peroneal nerve injury: an analysis of 947 consecutive patients. International Urogynecology Journal. 1994;5:12-4.
- 108. Sinclair RSC. Maternal obstetric palsy. South African Medical Journal. 1952;26:708-14.
- Reif ME. Bilateral common peroneal nerve palsy secondary to prolonged squatting in natural childbirth. Birth. 1988 Jun;15(2):100-2.
- Colachis SCI, Pease WS, Johnson EW. A preventable cause of foot drop during childbirth. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994 Jul;171(1):270-2.
- Bademosi O, Osuntokun BO, Van de Werd HJ, Bademosi AK, Ojo OA. Obstetric neuropraxia in the Nigerian African. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1980 May-Jun;17(6):611-4.
- 112. Hall G. A review of drop-foot corrective surgery. Lepr Rev. 1977 Sep;48(3):184-92.
- Richard BM. Interosseus transfer of tibialis posterior for common peroneal nerve palsy. Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery - British Volume. 1989;71:834-7.
- 114. Waaldijk K. Evaluation report XIV on VVF projext in Northern Nigeria and Niger. . Katsin, Nigeria: Babbar Ruga Fistula Hospital; 1998 Contract No.: Document Number].
- 115. Lewis G, de Bernis L. Obstetric fistula: guiding principles for clinical management and programme development. WHO, editor. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- Kowalewski M, Mujinja P, Janh A. Can mothers afford maternal health care costs. User costs of maternal health care in rural Tanzania. African Journal of Reproductive Health. 2002;6(1):65-73.
- Browning A. Obstetric fistula: current practicalities and future concerns. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008 Mar;19(3):333-4. Epub 2008 Jan 10.
- Mishra US, Ramanathan M. Delivery-related complications and determinants of caesarean section rates in India. Health Policy Plan. 2002 Mar;17(1):90-8.
- 119. Wakabi W. Ethiopia steps up fight against fistula. Lancet. 2008 May 3;371(9623):1493-4.
- Poovan P, Kifle F, Kwast BE. A maternity waiting home reduces obstetric catastrophes. World Health Forum. 1990;11(4):440-5.
- Chandramohan D, Cutts F, Millard P. The effect of stay in a maternity waiting home on perinatal mortality in rural Zimbabwe. J Trop Med Hyg. 1995 Aug;98(4):261-7.
- 122. Spaans WA, van Roosmalen J, van Wiechen CM. A maternity waiting home experience in Zimbabwe. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1998 May;61(2):179-80.
- 123. Wilson JB, Collison AH, Richardson D, Kwofie G, Senah KA,

Tinkorang EK. The maternity waiting home concept: the Nsawam, Ghana experience. The Accra PMM Team. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997 Nov;59 Suppl 2:S165-72.

- 124. Harrison KA. The importance of the educated healthy woman in Africa. Lancet. 1997 Mar 1;349(9052):644-7.
- Thuray H, Samai O, Fofana P, Sengeh P. Establishing a cost recovery system for drugs, Bo, Sierra Leone. The Bo PMM Team. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997 Nov;59 Suppl 2:S141-7.
- Ahmed Y, Shehu CE, Nwobodo EI, Ekele BA. Reducing maternal mortality from ruptured uterus—the Sokoto initiative. Afr J Med Med Sci. 2004 Jun;33(2):135-8.
- 127. Chiwuzie J, Okojie O, Okolocha C, Omorogbe S, Oronsaye A, Akpala W, et al. Emergency loan funds to improve access to obstetric care in Ekpoma, Nigeria. The Benin PMM Team. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997 Nov;59 Suppl 2:S231-6.
- Essien E, Ifenne D, Sabitu K, Musa A, Alti-Mu'azu M, Adidu V, et al. Community loan funds and transport services for obstetric emergencies in northern Nigeria. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997 Nov;59 Suppl 2:S237-44.
- Fofana P, Samai O, Kebbie A, Sengeh P. Promoting the use of obstetric services through community loan funds, Bo, Sierra Leone. The Bo PMM Team. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1997 Nov;59 Suppl 2:S225-30.
- Mabogunje AL. Tackling the African "poverty trap": the ljebu-Ode experiment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007 Oct 23;104(43):16781-6.
- Planning Commission, Government India, Annual Report 2001-2002. 2001-2002 [updated 2001-2002; cited June 20, 2003]; Available from: <u>http://planning_commission.nic.</u> <u>in/sitemap/</u>.
- National Family Health Survey (NFHS-2) 1998-1999. (Mumbai, India: IIPS, 2000): International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) and ORC Macro; 1998-1999 Contract No.: Document Number|.
- 133. Nag M. The Kerala formula. World Health Forum. 1988;9(2):258-62.
- Kumar GA. Antenatal history and caesarean section in the southern part of kerala, India. World Health Popul. 2006;8(1):41-6.
- Sumithra S, Aswathy S, Sandeep S, Shobha P, Johnson AJ, Valsala LS, et al. Maternal and child health services utilization in married women of age 15- 45 years. J Commun Dis. 2006 Mar;38(1):102-5.
- Arrowsmith SD. The classification of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulas: a call for an evidence-based approach. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S25-7.
- Waaldijk K. The immediate management of fresh obstetric fistulas. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004 Sep;191(3):795-9.
- Waaldijk K. Immediate indwelling bladder catheterization at postpartum urine leakage—personal experience of 1200 patients. Trop Doct. 1997 Oct;27(4):227-8.
- Waaldijk K. The immediate surgical management of fresh obstetric fistulas with catheter and/or early closure. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1994 Apr;45(1):11-6.
- Bazi T. Spontaneous closure of vesicovaginal fistulas after bladder drainage alone: review of the evidence. Int Urogynecol J 2007;18:4.
- 141. Waaldijk K. Step by step surgery of vesicovaginal fistulas. Edinburgh: Campion Press; 1994.
- Ojengbede OA, Morhason-Bello IO. Local anesthesia: an appropriate technology for simple fistula repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S75-8.
- Lassey AT. Simple fistulas: diagnosis and management in low-resource settings—a descriptive report. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S47-50.

- 144. Inipavudu B, Mitterschiffthaler G, Hasibeder W, Dunser MW. Spinal versus epidural anesthesia for vesicovaginal fistula repair surgery in a rural sub-Saharan African setting. J Clin Anesth. 2007 Sep;19(6):444-7.
- Chigbu CO, Nwogu-Ikojo EE, Onah HE, Iloabachie GC. Juxtacervical vesicovaginal fistulae: outcome by route of repair. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2006 Nov;26(8):795-7.
- Mahfouz N. Urinary and rectovaginal fistulae in women. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of the British Empire. 1929;36:581-9.
- Mahfouz N. Urinary and faecal fistulae. Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of the British Empire. 1938;45:405-24.
- Krishnan RG. A review of a series of 100 cases of vesicovaginal fistulae. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1949 Feb;56(1):22-7.
- 149. Abbott DH. The repair of vesico-vaginal fistulae. East Afr Med J. 1950 Mar;27(3):109-18.
- Lavery DW. Vesico-vaginal fistulae; a report on the vaginal repair of 160 cases. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1955 Aug;62(4):530-9.
- 151. Mahfouz N. Urinary fistulae in women. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Emp. 1957 Feb;64(1):23-34.
- 152. Hamlin RH, Nicholson EC. Experiences in the treatment of 600 vaginal fistulas and in the management of 80 labours which have followed the repair of these injuries. Ethiopian Medical Journal. 1966;4(5):189-92.
- 153. Moir JC. Vesicovaginal fistula: thoughts on the treatment of 350 cases. Proc R Soc Med. 1966 Oct;59(10):1019-22.
- Hamlin RH, Nicholson EC. Reconstruction of urethra totally destroyed in labour. Br Med J. 1969 Apr 19;2(5650):147-50.
- Lawson J. Rectovaginal fistulae following difficult labour. Proc R Soc Med. 1972 Mar;65(3):283-6.
- Iloabachie GC. 260 cases of juxta cervical fistula. East Afr Med J. 1992 Apr;69(4):188-90.
- Kelly J. Vesico-vaginal and recto-vaginal fistulae. J R Soc Med. 1992 May;85(5):257-8.
- 158. Goh JT. Genital tract fistula repair on 116 women. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 1998 May;38(2):158-61.
- Gharoro EP, Abedi HO. Vesico-vaginal fistula in Benin City, Nigeria. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 1999 Mar;64(3):313-4.
- Browning A. Prevention of residual urinary incontinence following successful repair of obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula using a fibro-muscular sling. BJOG. 2004 Apr;111(4):357-61.
- Raassen TJ, Verdaasdonk EG, Vierhout ME. Prospective results after first-time surgery for obstetric fistulas in East African women. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007 Jan;19(1):73-9.
- Nardos R, Browning A, Member B. Duration of bladder catheterization after surgery for obstetric fistula. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008 Oct;103(1):30-2.
- Rangnekar NP, Imdad AN, Kaul SA, Pathak HR. Role of the martius procedure in the management of urinary-vaginal fistulas. J Am Coll Surg. 2000 Sep;191(3):259-63.
- Browning A. Lack of value of the Martius fibrofatty graft in obstetric fistula repair. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2006 Apr;93(1):33-7.
- Kelly J, Kwast B. Obstetric vesico-vaginal fistula: evaluation of failed repairs. . Int Urogynecol J. 1993;4:271-3.
- Browning A. Risk factors for developing residual urinary incontinence after obstetric fistula repair. BJOG. 2006 Apr;113(4):482-5.
- 167. Hensle TW, Chang DT. Vaginal reconstruction. Urol Clin North Am. 1999 Feb;26(1):39-47, vii.

- Browning A. The circumferential obstetric fistula: characteristics, management and outcomes. BJOG. 2007 Sep;114(9):1172-6.
- 169. Browning A. Obstetric fistula: clinical considerations in the creation of a new urethra and the management of a subsequent pregnancy. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S94-7.
- 170. Hamlin R. Reconstruction of the urethra totally destroyed in labour. Br Med J. 1969;2:3.
- 171. Barnes R, WH W. Reconstruction of the urethra with a tube from a bladder flap. Urol Cutaneous Rev. 1949;53:604-6.
- 172. Tanagho E, Smith R. Clinical evaluation of a surgical technique for the correction of complete urinary incontinence. J Urol. 1972;107:402-11.
- 173. Elkins T, Ghosh T, Tagoe G, Stocker R. Transvaginal mobilisation and utilisation of the anterior bladder wall to repaier vesicovaginal fistula involving the urethra. Obstet Gynecol. 1992;79:455-60.
- 174. Rao MP, Dwivedi US, Datta B, Vyas N, Nandy PR, Trivedi S, et al. Post caesarean vesicouterine fistulae— Youssef syndrome: our experience and review of published work. ANZ J Surg. 2006 Apr;76(4):243-5.
- 175. Goyal NK, Dwivedi US, Vyas N, Rao MP, Trivedi S, Singh PB. A decade's experience with vesicovaginal fistula in India. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007 Jan;18(1):39-42.
- 176. Kapoor R, Ansari MS, Singh P, Gupta P, Khurana N, Mandhani A, et al. Management of vesicovaginal fistula: An experience of 52 cases with a rationalized algorithm for choosing the transvaginal or transabdominal approach. Indian Journal of Urology. 2007;23(4):372-6.
- 177. Quartey JK. Bladder rotation flap for repair of difficult vesicovaginal fistulas. J Urol. 1972 Jan;107(1):60-2.
- O'Connor VJJ, Sokol JK, Bulkley GJ, Nanninga JB. Suprapubic closure of vesicovaginal fistula. Journal of Urology. 1973;109:51-4.
- Kumar S, Goyal NK, Das SK, Trivedi S, Dwivedi US, Singh PB. Our experience with genitourinary fistulas. Urol Int Journal. in press.
- Vyas N, Nandi PR, Mahmood M, Tandon V, Dwivedi US, Singh PB. Bladder mucosal autografts for repair of vesicovaginal fistula. Bjog. 2005 Jan;112(1):112-4.
- Mottaz A, Zingg E, Studer U. Urétérosigmoidostomie chez l'adulte: résultats à long terme. Progrès en urologie. 1996;6:87-92.
- Kisanga R, Aboud M, Yongolog C. Ureterosigmoidostomy: a useful procedure of internal urinary diversion in selected patients. . Centr Afr J Med. 1996;42:288-90.
- Fisch M, Wammack R, Muller S, Hohenfellner R. The Mainz II pouch (sigma rectum pouch). J Urol. 1993;149:258-63.
- Arrowsmith S. Urinary diversion in the vesico-vaginal fistula patient: general considerations regarding feasibility, safety, and follow-up. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99(Suppl 1) :S65-8.
- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD, Hancock BD. Ethical aspects of urinary diversion for women with irreparable obstetric fistulas in developing countries. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008 Jul;19(7):1027-30.
- Zlotnik H. Worl populations prospects: the 2006 revision. ; 2007 Contract No.: Document Number|.
- 187. Shittu OS, Ojengbede OA, Wara LH. A review of postoperative care for obstetric fistulas in Nigeria. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S79-84.
- Wall LL, Arrowsmith SD. The "continence gap": a critical concept in obstetric fistula repair. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007 Aug;18(8):843-4.

- Genadry RR, Creanga AA, Roenneburg ML, Wheeless CR. Complex obstetric fistulas. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S51-6.
- 190. Blaivas JG, Heritz DM. Vaginal flap reconstruction of the urethra and vesical neck in women: a report of 49 cases. J Urol. 1996 Mar;155(3):1014-7.
- 191. Hilton P. Urodynamic findings in patients with urogenital fistulae. Br J Urol. 1998 Apr;81(4):539-42.
- 192. Wall LL. Where should obstetric vesico-vaginal fistulas be repaired: at the district general hospital or a specialized fistula center? Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2007 Nov;99 Suppl 1:S28-31.
- Morgan MA. Another view of "humanitarian ventures" and "fistula tourism". Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2007 Jun;18(6):705-7.
- 194. Husain A, Polan ML, Morgan M, Ghebrekidan A. Eritrean women's project response to Wall paper: "Hard questions concerning fistula surgery in Third World countries". J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2007 Mar;16(2):281-2.
- 195. Say L, Raine R. A systematic review of inequalities in the use of maternal health care in developing countries: examining the scale of the problem and the importance of context. Bull World Health Organ. 2007 Oct;85(10):812-9.
- 196. Rani M, Bonu S, Harvey S. Differentials in the quality of antenatal care in India. Int J Qual Health Care. 2008 Feb;20(1):62-71.
- 197. Wall LL, Wilkinson J, Arrowsmith SD, Ojengbede O, Mabeya H. A code of ethics for the fistula surgeon. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2008 Apr;101(1):84-7.